
AGENDA FOR

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Contact:: Julie Gallagher
Direct Line: 0161 2536640
E-mail: julie.Gallagher@bury.gov.uk
Web Site: www.bury.gov.uk

To: All Members of Health and Wellbeing Board

Voting Members: Councillor A. Simpson(Chair), P. 
Jones-Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair, Executive Director 
Communities and Wellbeing), B. Barlow (Chair Health 
watch), D. Bevitt (B3SDA), M. Carriline (Executive 
Director Children Young People and Culture), L. Jones 
(Director of Public Health), K. Patel (Chair Bury CCG), J. 
Marshall (GMP representing Bury Community Safety 
Partnership), S. North (Chief Operating Officer Bury 
CCG).

Non-voting Member: Rob Bellingham (Director of 
Commissioning NHS England)

Dear Member/Colleague

Health and Wellbeing Board

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing 
Board which will be held as follows:-

Date: Thursday, 11 June 2015

Place: Peel Room - Elizabethan Suite - Town Hall

Time: 2.00 pm

Briefing

Facilities:

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted.

Notes: There will be a pre-meeting briefing for members and 
deputies commencing at 1pm.



AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to consider 
whether they have an interest in any of the matters on the Agenda, and if 
so, to formally declare that interest.

3  MATTERS ARISING  (Pages 1 - 8)

Forward plan attached.

4  MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 9 - 14)

Minutes attached. 

5  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME  

Questions are invited from members of the public present at the meeting 
on any matters for which the Board is responsible.

Approximately 30 minutes will be set aside for Public Question Time, if 
required. 

6  HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEMBERSHIP UPDATE  (Pages 15 
- 18)

A report from the Democratic Service Officer, Julie Gallagher is attached. 

7  DEVOLUTION MANCHESTER UPDATE  

The Executive Director Communities and Wellbeing and the Bury CCG 
Chief Officer will report at the meeting.

8  MAY BETTER CARE FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT AND 
FUTURE SIGN OFF PROCESS  (Pages 19 - 28)

The Executive Director of Communities and Wellbeing and the Bury CCG 
Chief Operating Officer will report at the meeting.  Report attached. 

9  CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL  (Pages 29 - 82)

The Executive Director Children, Young People and Culture will report at 
the meeting.  Report attached.

10  QUARTERLY NHS ENGLAND COMMISSIONING REPORT  

Rob Bellingham, Director of Commissioning, NHS England will report at 
the meeting.



11  HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY REFRESH  (Pages 83 - 142)

Bury MBC Social Development Manager Heather Crozier will report at the 
meeting. Reports attached:
Priority 1 Governance Reports
Priority 2 Refresh and Governance Reports 
Priority 3 Governance Report
Priority 4 Refresh and Governance Reports 
Priority 5 Refresh and Governance Reports 

12  URGENT BUSINESS  

Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency.



This page is intentionally left blank



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

1

Board 
Date

Member 
Development 

Session

Interactive discussion/ 
focus

Agenda Items 

Information  Priority 1 of Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy Refresh and 
Governance Reports (Heather 
Crozier)

Discussion  May BCF Quarterly performance 
report (Pat/Stuart)

 Child Death Overview Panel 
Report (Mark Carriline)

 Quarterly NHS England 
Commissioning Report (Rob 
Bellingham)

Thursday 
11th June 
2015 
(2:00pm – 
4:00pm)

Draft Agenda

(1pm-2pm)

 Looking ahead to 
2015/16

Draft Agenda

Devolution Manchester 
(Pat/Stuart)

Decision  Priority 2 of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy Refresh and 
Governance Reports (Heather 
Crozier)

 Priority 3 of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy Governance 
Report (Heather Crozier)

 Priority 4 of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy Refresh and 
Governance Reports (Heather 
Crozier)

 Priority 5 of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy Refresh and 
Governance Reports (Heather 
Crozier)

 BCF Sign off process for 
Quarterly reporting June-March 
2015 (Pat/Stuart)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 1
A

genda Item
 3



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

2

 Membership changes to the 
Health & Wellbeing Board (Cllr 
Simpson)

TBC  Healthier Together Update?

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 2



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

3

Information Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion
Decision

Thursday  
16th July 
2015 
6:00pm- 
8:00pm
 

Draft Agenda



(2) Draft Agenda



TBC  The Refreshed Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy for Bury 
(Heather Crozier)

 Director of Public Health Annual 
Report (Lesley Jones)

 Health & Wellbeing Board Annual 
Report 2014/15 (Heather 
Crozier)

 Working Well Protocol (Tracey 
Flynn)

 JSNA Update report (Helen 
Smith)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 3



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

4

Information  Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion

Decision

Thursday 
24th 
September 
2015 
6:00pm- 
8:00pm
 

To be informed by 
the member 
development action 
plan

Draft Agenda

TBC  Annual Safeguarding  Children’s 
Report

 Annual Safeguarding Adults 
report

 Quarterly NHS England 
Commissioning Report (Rob 
Bellingham)

 Bi-Annual Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy  & Performance update 
for Priorities 1-5 (Heather 
Crozier/Anna Barclay/Priority 
Leads)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 4



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

5

Information  Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion

Decision

Thursday 
17th 
December 
2015 
(2:00pm – 
4:00pm)

To be informed by 
the member 
development action 
plan

Draft Agenda

TBC  Quarterly NHS England 
Commissioning Report (Rob 
Bellingham)

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 5



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

6

Information  Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion
Decision

Thursday 
28th 
January 
2016 

(6:00pm – 
8:00pm)

To be informed by 
the member 
development action 
plan

Draft Agenda

TBC

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 6



1st June 2015                                                      Health & Wellbeing Board Forward Plan2015/16 

7

Information  Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion
Decision

Thursday 
3rd March 
2016 

(2:00pm – 
4:00pm)

To be informed by the 
member development 
action plan

Draft Agenda 

TBC  Quarterly NHS England 
Commissioning Report (Rob 
Bellingham)

 Bi-Annual Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy  & Performance update 
for Priorities 1-5 (Heather 
Crozier/Anna Barclay/Priority 
Leads)

Information  Devolution Manchester Update 
(standing item)

Discussion
Decision

Thursday 
14th April 
2016 

(6:00pm – 
8:00pm)

Chair development 
Session

Draft Agenda 

TBC

Beyond... 

TBC

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



593

Minutes of: HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD

Date of Meeting: 9th April 2015

Present: Cabinet Member, Councillor Rishi Shori 
(Chair); Director of Public Health, Lesley Jones; Chief 
Operating Officer, CCG, Stuart North, Executive Director, 
Communities and Wellbeing; Pat Jones-Greenhalgh; 
Councillor Andrea Simpson; Dr. K Patel; Executive 
Director, Children and Families, Mark Carriline; 
Representing B3SDA; Dave Bevitt; Healthwatch Chair, 
Barbara Barlow; NHS England; Mr. Rob Bellingham; 
Chief Inspector, Integrated Neighbourhood Policing & 
Partnerships, Bury Division; Jo Marshall.

Also in attendance:
Councillor Peter Bury – Chair, Health Overview and 
Scrutiny
Zena Shuttleworth – Strategic Planning and Policy 
Officer, Bury Council
Simon Joos - Economic Development Support Officer, 
Bury Council
Heather Hutton - Health and Wellbeing Board Policy 
Lead.
Julie Gallagher - Democratic Services.

Apologies: There were no apologies.

Public attendance: There were 2 members of the public in attendance

HWB.886 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

      There were no declarations of interest.

HWB.887 MINUTES

Delegated decision:

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 
Thursday 29th January 2015 be approved as a correct record and signed by 
the Chair.

HWB.888 MATTERS ARISING

Members of the Board reviewed the Health and Wellbeing Board forward plan. 

Delegated decision

The Health and Wellbeing Board forward plan be noted.

HWB.889 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME

Document Pack Page 9 Agenda Item 4



594

Health and Wellbeing Board 9th April 2015

There were no questions from members of the public.

HWB.890    SUPPORTING WORKING CARERS
  

The HWB considered a verbal presentation from Zena Shuttleworth, Strategic 
Planning and Policy Officer and Simon Joos - Economic Development Support 
Officer. An accompanying report providing details of a recently submitted 
grant to support working carers to remain in employment had been circulated 
to Members of the Board. 

The Strategic Planning and Policy Officer reported that in August 2014, Bury 
Council submitted a successful expression of interest for a pot of funding to 
support working carers remain in employment through the use of assistive 
technology.  The Council has signed a Memorandum of Understanding and the 
full grant allocation of £125,032 was received in March 2015.

A dedicated Project Officer will be recruited to manage the pilot to ensure that 
key stakeholders, including employers are involved throughout.  The Project 
Officer will identify and support both employers and carers and will become a 
referral mechanism into the pilot. 

In response to a Member’s question; the Strategic Planning Officer reported 
that it is hoped that the Council will be able to sustain the support offered to 
working carers beyond the two year pilot phase.

The Strategic Planning Officer reported that the pilot will need to identify a 
minimum of fifty working carers.   

Partner organisations represented on the Board offered their support in 
providing contact information for organisations that may be able to assist in 
identifying working carers within the Borough.
 
Delegated decision:

1. The Health and Wellbeing Board agree to support the aims and objectives 
of the pilot.
2. The Board agree that Bury Council is approached to be involved with the 
pilot.
3. The Board agree that managers and carers will be supported to be part of 
the pilot.
4. The Board agree that Bury Council will be supported to implement 
recommendations that come out of the pilot.
5. The supporting working carers report will be forwarded on for consideration 
at a future meeting of the Cabinet.

HWB.891 DEVOLUTION FOR GREATER MANCHESTER 

The Chief Operating Officer, CCG provided members of the Board with an 
update in relation to the proposals for devolution in Greater Manchester. The 
presentation contained the following information: 

Document Pack Page 10



595

Health and Wellbeing Board 9th April 2015

The integration of health and social care within and across Greater
Manchester has been a major priority for some time as it is a key component 
of GM’s growth and reform strategies. GM local authorities and the full range 
of NHS stakeholders have been invited to develop ambitious plans for a new 
partnership between Greater Manchester health and social care bodies and 
NHS England.

.
A Memorandum of Understanding has therefore been worked up by the GM 
Local Authorities and CCGs, with support from GM NHS providers.  
The primary purpose of the document is to initiate a Build Up Year (2015-16) 
whereby the necessary detailed work will be completed between the parties to 
allow the delegation of full responsibilities from NHS England to Greater 
Manchester in April 2016.

It is anticipated to achieve the overall Devolution Outcomes that a series of 
MOUs will need to be agreed with the other National Bodies/ ALBs allowing a 
combined approach to the Build Up Year. This MOU will act as a clear signal to 
other organisations to be involved and agree a similar process.

The MoU, sets out the broad principles that the parties have agreed, the 
objectives, a proposed governance structure and a timeline for 
implementation.  It does not make any changes to the statutory 
accountabilities or duties of local authorities or CCGs nor will the 
accountabilities or existing financial flows to CCGs or local authorities be 
affected.

The Chief Operating Officer reported that there will be further rapid and 
intensive engagement with government and NHS national bodies as well as 
the development of the MOU workstreams underpinning the new partnership 
with NHS England.

In response to a Member’s question, the Chief Operating Officer reported that 
there is a clear approach to onward communication and engagement with 
partner organisations.

The Chief Operating Officer reported that the clinical and financial 
sustainability plan is critical to the success of the Devolution proposals.  All 
parties to the agreement need to think radically about the future of the 
services they provide and not just about protecting the future of their 
individual organisations.

The Chair of the CCG; Dr. Patel reported that the Devolution proposals should 
allow change to happen more quickly.  Primary care will need to change,  
services provided by GPs will need to be delivered, consistently with greater 
emphasis on prevention.

With regards to concerns raised in relation to Bury’s influence being reduced 
as a result of the devolution proposals; the Chief Operating Officer reported 
that the Local Authority and the CCG will ensure they lobby on behalf of Bury 
and its residents.  Rob Bellingham, NHS England, reported that the work 
undertaken within Bury in relation to the Prime Ministers Challenge Fund and 
the Healthier Radcliffe Pilot, is evidence that the organisations in Bury can 
work well in partnership and bid successfully for National money.

Document Pack Page 11



596

Health and Wellbeing Board 9th April 2015

The Executive Director, Communities and Wellbeing expressed concern with 
regards to the pace of change; capacity within the Local Authority to drive the 
necessary change in relation to the 19 identified work streams and to deliver 
on the proposals.

There was consensus amongst those present that it will be necessary to 
ensure that the resources are made available to assist with the development 
of the proposals at a local level and the proposals make a difference to how 
service are developed, commissioned and integrated.
 
 Delegated decision:

1 The proposals for Greater Manchester Devolution be noted. 
2 The Chief Operating Officer Bury CCG will provide regular update reports to 

the Board on the progress of the Greater Manchester devolution proposals.

HWB.892 BURY DIRECTORY UPDATE

The Health and Wellbeing Board considered a verbal presentation from 
Heather Crozier, Social Development Manager, the presentation contained the 
following information:  

The Bury Directory is a new on-line one-stop information point for advice, 
support, activities and services in Bury.  

The service is now live and from January to March there have been 7,692 
visits to the website; 40% of those visitors were from Bury, 13% London and 
10% Manchester.  The largest amount of searches were for the subjects of 
mental health and dementia; the top location search was Bury.

The Social Development Manger reported that the Directory will continue to be 
rolled out with partner agencies, officers will attend key events to promote the 
Directory.  Going forward there is potential for a data share platform for use 
by partner agencies.

In response to a Member’s question, the Social Development Manger reported 
that it will be necessary to review the governance arrangements for the Bury 
Directory.

Delegated decision:

A Bury Directory governance report will presented at a future meeting of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

HWB.893 MATERNITY SERVICES AT PENNINE ACUTE NHS TRUST 

The Chief Operating Officer, Bury CCG reported that Commissioners within the 
Pennine Acute NHS Trust footprint have raised concerns with regards to 
maternity provision in the Trust with the Care Quality Commission.  

Document Pack Page 12



597

Health and Wellbeing Board 29 January 2015

Delegated decision:

The Chief Operating Officer, Bury CCG will bring a report on Maternity services 
within the Pennine Acute NHS Trust to a future meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

.  

Councillor Rishi Shori
Chair

   
(Note:  The meeting started at 6pm and ended at 7.40pm)

Document Pack Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Page | 1

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Health and Wellbeing Board Membership Update

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Julie Gallagher

HWB Lead in this 
area

Councillor Simpson 

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
x

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board? Following discussions with the Leader 

of the Council it was agreed at Annual 
Council that the Councillor 

representation on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board be reviewed.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Living_well_in_Bury_
Making_it_happen_together_Version_8-4.pdf

Councillor representation on the HWB 
is relevant to all priorities contained 

within the Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

Bury JSNA - Final for 
HWBB 3.pdf

Councillor representation is relevant to 
all areas of the JSNA.

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Members of the Board endorse the 
proposed changes to the membership 

of the HWB.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?
None

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any Annual Council 20.5.2015

Document Pack Page 15 Agenda Item 6



Page | 2

other committee meeting of the 
Council/meeting of the CCG 

Board/other stakeholders....please 
provide details.

2. Introduction / Background

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required Unitary authorities to establish a 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  The Act sets a core membership that health and 
wellbeing boards must include:

At least one councillor from the relevant council

The Director of adult social services

The Director of children’s services

The Director of Public Health

A representative from Healthwatch

A representative from each relevant CCG

Any other Members considered appropriate by the Council

In addition to the core members the Board also includes a representative from 
Bury’s Third Sector Development Agency, the Community Safety Partnership and 
NHS England.

3. key issues for the Board to Consider

Neighbouring authorities have the following Councillor representation on their 
Health and Wellbeing Boards: 

Oldham – 6 Councillors

Rochdale – 4 Councillors

Bolton – 7 Councillors

It is proposed that the Boards membership be increased to include an additional 
Cabinet member and an opposition member.

Document Pack Page 16



Page | 3

4. Recommendations for action

Membership of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be made up of leaders across 
the NHS, Social Care, Public Health and other services directly related to the 
health and wellbeing agenda.

The meeting will be Chaired by a Member of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
duly appointed by the Council.  The Vice Chair will be the Executive Director, 
Communities and Wellbeing.  The Chair and Vice Chair would be appointed 
annually; the appointments would be ratified by Council.  

At a meeting of Annual Council on 20th May 2015 Members agreed that the 
Cabinet member for Health and Wellbeing, Councillor Andrea Simpson be 
appointed as Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board and that further changes 
to membership will be determined following consultation with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.

It is proposed that the terms of reference be amended to include the following 
members:

Voting Members – Four Councillors

 Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing 

 Deputy Leader, Finance and Housing

 Cabinet Member, Children, Families and Culture

 An opposition Member

Following discussion at the Health and Wellbeing Board, that the Chief Executive, 
in consultation with the Leaders of the political groups on the Council agrees to 
the increase the Councillor representation on the Health and Wellbeing Board by 
two.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

None 

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

None

Document Pack Page 17

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


Page | 4

Contact Officer:   Julie Gallagher     

Telephone number: 0161 2536640

 E-mail address:  Julie.gallagher@bury.gov.uk

 Date: June 2015

Document Pack Page 18



Page | 1

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Reporting of Better Care Fund performance 

Date 26th May 2015 

Contact Officer Julie Gonda 

HWB Lead in this 
area

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?  To brief the Health and Wellbeing 

Board on the national reporting and 
monitoring requirements for the 
Better Care Fund Plan 

 To seek future delegated sign off 
arrangements for the submission of 
the return on a quarterly basis as 
necessary

 To share with the Board the report 
that was submitted to the national 
Team on 29th May 2015  for 
discussion and ratification 

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Living_well_in_Bury_
Making_it_happen_together_Version_8-4.pdf

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

Bury JSNA - Final for 
HWBB 3.pdf

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

 To discuss and ratify the Better 
Care Fund quarterly report for the 

Document Pack Page 19 Agenda Item 8



Page | 2

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

period 1st January 2015 to 31st 
March 2015 which was submitted to 
the national team on 29th May 
2015.

 To delegate responsibility to the 
Chair of the Board for sign off of 
future quarterly reports which will 
then be brought to the attention of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board at 
subsequent meetings.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

none

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No

2. Introduction / Background

Introduction 
This purpose of this report is to:

 brief the Health and Wellbeing Board on the national reporting and 
monitoring requirements for the Better Care Fund Plan 

 seek delegated sign off arrangements for the submission of the return on a 
quarterly basis as necessary

 share with the Board the report that was submitted on 29th May 2015  for 
discussion and ratification 

Background 
The National Better Care Fund Task Force issued guidance in March 2015 to 
Clinical Commissioning Groups, Local Authorities and Health and Wellbeing 
Boards with reference to the operationalisation of the Better Care Fund plans in 
2015-16. This guidance sets out:

 The Care Act legislation underpinning the Better Care Fund
 The accountability arrangements and flows of funding
 The reporting and monitoring requirements for 15 – 16 
 Arrangements for the operation of payment for performance framework 
 How progress against plans will be managed and what the escalation process 

will look like
 The role of the Better Care Fund Task Force/ Better Care Support team going 

forward 

Document Pack Page 20



Page | 3

For further information – the guidance is embedded below.

The national team then revised the guidance and issued a simpler quarterly 
reporting template in May 2015 and the revised guidance is embedded below.

3. key issues for the Board to Consider

The national team has set the deadlines for submitting the returns for 2015 – 16 
and these are identified in the reporting schedule embedded below. The 
completed return has to be signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

The quarterly reporting template focuses on the allocation, budget arrangements 
and national conditions. Data in relation to the agreed local performance metrics 
and income/expenditure data will be collected as part of the quarterly reporting 
return due at the end of quarter 1 2015-16. An updated template capturing 
these additional reporting requests will be circulated by the national team in 
early July.

It can be seen from the reporting schedule above that the reporting template 
will be considered by the Bury Joint Commissioning Group and Integrated 
Partnership Board prior to submission to the Health and Wellbeing Board.

 Unfortunately the set Health and Wellbeing Board dates do not coincide with the 
national submission dates. As a result, it has been necessary to seek delegated 
sign off from the Health and Wellbeing Board Chair for the report submitted on 
29th May 2015 which is attached for discussion, decision and ratification.

Following submissions, returns will undergo a single validation process. Following 
this data validation process a report will be published presenting the data 
returns submitted by each Health and Wellbeing board area and collating that 
data alongside the other national BCF metrics (forecast and actual performance) 
that will have been centrally collected from other sources.   

Document Pack Page 21



Page | 4

4. Recommendations for action

The recommendations for action are as follows:

To discuss and ratify the Better Care Fund quarterly report for the period 1st 
January 2015 to 31st March 2015 which was submitted to the national team on 
29th May 2015.

To delegate responsibility to the Chair of the Board for sign off of future 
quarterly reports which will then be brought to the attention of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board at subsequent meetings.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:       Julie Gonda 

Telephone number:   0161 253 7253

 E-mail address:       J.Gonda@bury.gov.uk

 Date:                       26th May 2015 

Document Pack Page 22

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk
mailto:J.Gonda@bury.gov.uk


Quarterly Reporting Template - Guidance

Notes for Completion
The data collection template requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to track through the high level metrics from the Health & Wellbeing Board plan.

The completed return will require sign off by the Health & Wellbeing Board.

A completed return must be submitted to the Better Care Support Team inbox (england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net) by midday on 29th May 2015

This initial Q4 Excel data collection template focuses on the allocation, budget arrangments and national conditions. Details on future data collection
requirements and mechanisms (including possible use of Unify 2) will be announced ahead of the Q1 2015/16 data collection.   

To accompany the quarterly data collection we will require the Health & Wellbeing Board to submit a written narrative that contains any additional
information you feel is appropriate including explanation of any material variances against the plan and associated performance trajectory that was approved.

Content
The data collection template consists of 4 sheets:

1) Cover Sheet - this includes basic details and question completion
2) A&B - this tracks through the funding and spend for the Health & Wellbeing Board and the expected level of benefits
3) National Conditions - checklist against the national conditions as set out in the Spending Review.
4) Narrative - please provide a written narrative
To note - Yellow cells require input, blue cells do not.

1) Cover Sheet
On the cover sheet please enter the following information:
The Health and Well Being Board
Who has completed the report, email and contact number in case any queries arise
Please detail who has signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Well Being Board.

Question completion tracks the number of questions that have been completed, when all the questions in each section of the template have been completed
the cell will turn green. Only when all 4 cells are green should the template be sent to england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net

2) A&B
This requires 4 questions to be answered. Please answer as at the time of completion.
Has the Local Authority recived their share of the Disabled Facilites Grant (DFG)?
If the answer to the above is 'No' please indicate when this will happen.
Have the funds been pooled via a s.75 pooled budget arrangement in line with the agreed plan?
If the answer to the above is 'No' please indicate when this will happen

3) National Conditions
This section requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the six national conditions detailed in the Better Care Fund Planning Guidance are still
on track for delivery (http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/).  Please answer as at the time of completion.

It sets out the six conditions and requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm  'Yes', 'No' and 'No - In Progress' that these are on track. If 'No' or 'No - In
Progress' is selected please detail in the comments box what the issues are and the actions that are being taken to meet the condition.
'No - In Progress' should be used when a condition has not been fully met but work is underway to achieve it by 31 March 2016.
Full details of the conditions are detailed at the bottom of the page.

Document Pack Page 23



Cover and Basic Details

Q4 2014/15

Health and Well Being Board Bury

completed by: Julie Gonda 

e-mail: j.gonda@bury.gov.uk

contact number: 01612537253

Who has signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Well Being Board: Cllr Simpson 

Question Completion - when all questions have been answered and the validation boxes below have turned green you should send the template to
england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net saving the file as 'Name HWB.xls' for example 'County Durham HWB.xls'

No. of questions answered
1. Cover 5
2. A&B 4
3. National Conditions 16
4. Narrative 1

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 24



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Bury

Data Submission Period:
Q4 2014/15

Allocation and budget arrangements

Has the housing authority received its DFG allocation? Yes

If the answer to the above is 'No' please indicate when this will happen dd/mm/yy

Have the funds been pooled via a s.75 pooled budget arrangement in line with
the agreed plan? No

If the answer to the above is 'No' please indicate when this will happen 30/06/2015

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 25



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Bury

Data Submission Period:
Q4 2014/15

National Conditions

The Spending Round established six national conditions for access to the Fund.
Please confirm by selecting 'Yes', 'No' or 'No - In Progress' against the relevant condition as to whether these are on track as per your final BCF plan.
Further details on the conditions are specified below.
If 'No' or 'No - In Progress' is selected for any of the conditions please include a comment in the box to the right

Condition

Please Select
(Yes, No or No - In

Progress) Comment
1) Are the plans still jointly agreed? Yes
2) Are Social Care Services (not spending) being protected? Yes
3) Are the 7 day services to support patients being discharged and prevent
unnecessary admission at weekends in place and delivering?

No - In Progress Seven day access to GPs has now been rolled out across the whole of Bury. 7 day services  are delivered as part of crisis response services.  7 day services that wrap
around GP practices are  being piloted in 1 area of Bury and will be evaluated in June 2015 for potential roll out to the rest of the borough. We are currently in
consultation  over 7 day working for hospital based social workers .4) In respect of data sharing - confirm that:

i) Is the NHS Number being used as the primary identifier for health and care
services?

Yes The NHS number is being as the primary identifier in health.  We now have 92% of all current clients with an NHS number in social care and are capturing NHS
numbers at the point of entry for all new clients.Our staff are tasked with spotting when a client does not have an NHS number and capturing this while they are
working with the client. ii) Are you pursuing open APIs (i.e. systems that speak to each other)? Yes

iii) Are the appropriate Information Governance controls in place for
information sharing in line with Caldicott 2?

Yes Yes the Local Authority has recently achieved compliance with the IG toolkit 

5) Is a joint approach to assessments and care planning taking place and where
funding is being used for integrated packages of care, is there an accountable
professional?

No - In Progress We have integrated mental health and learning disability teams in place. A joint approach for older people is being tested out in 1  area of Bury and  will be evaluated
in June 2015 for potential roll out to the rest of the borough.We are currently fomulating ideas for locality  working.

6) Is an agreement on the consequential impact of changes in the acute sector
in place?

Yes

National conditions - Guidance

The Spending Round established six national conditions for access to the Fund:

1) Plans to be jointly agreed
The Better Care Fund Plan, covering a minimum of the pooled fund specified in the Spending Round, and potentially extending to the totality of the health and care spend in the Health and Wellbeing Board area, should be signed off by the Health and Wellbeing Board itself, and by the
constituent Councils and Clinical Commissioning Groups. In agreeing the plan, CCGs and councils should engage with all providers likely to be affected by the use of the fund in order to achieve the best outcomes for local people. They should develop a shared view of the future shape
of services. This should include an assessment of future capacity and workforce requirements across the system. The implications for local providers should be set out clearly for Health and Wellbeing Boards so that their agreement for the deployment of the fund includes recognition of
the service change consequences.

2) Protection for social care services (not spending)
Local areas must include an explanation of how local adult social care services will be protected within their plans. The definition of protecting services is to be agreed locally. It should be consistent with 2012 Department of Health guidance to NHS England on the funding transfer from
the NHS to social care in 2013/14: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/213223/Funding-transfer-from-the-NHS-to-social-care-in-2013-14.pdf

3) As part of agreed local plans, 7-day services in health and social care to support patients being discharged and prevent unnecessary admissions at weekends
Local areas are asked to confirm how their plans will provide 7-day services to support patients being discharged and prevent unnecessary admissions at weekends. If they are not able to provide such plans, they must explain why. There will not be a nationally defined level of 7-day
services to be provided. This will be for local determination and agreement. There is clear evidence that many patients are not discharged from hospital at weekends when they are clinically fit to be discharged because the supporting services are not available to facilitate it. The recent
national review of urgent and emergency care sponsored by Sir Bruce Keogh for NHS England provided guidance on establishing effective 7-day services within existing resources.

4) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the NHS number
The safe, secure sharing of data in the best interests of people who use care and support is essential to the provision of safe, seamless care. The use of the NHS number as a primary identifier is an important element of this, as is progress towards systems and processes that allow the
safe and timely sharing of information. It is also vital that the right cultures, behaviours and leadership are demonstrated locally, fostering a culture of secure, lawful and appropriate sharing of data to support better care.
Local areas should:
• confirm that they are using the NHS Number as the primary identifier for health and care services, and if they are not, when they plan to;
• confirm that they are pursuing open APIs (i.e. systems that speak to each other); and
• ensure they have the appropriate Information Governance controls in place for information sharing in line with Caldicott 2, and if not, when they plan for it to be in place.
NHS England has already produced guidance that relates to both of these areas. (It is recognised that progress on this issue will require the resolution of some Information Governance issues by DH).

5) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning and ensure that, where funding is used for integrated packages of care, there will be an accountable professional
Local areas should identify which proportion of their population will be receiving case management and a lead accountable professional, and which proportions will be receiving self-management help - following the principles of person-centred care planning. Dementia services will be
a particularly important priority for better integrated health and social care services, supported by accountable professionals. The Government has set out an ambition in the Mandate that GPs should be accountable for co-ordinating patient-centred care for older people and those with
complex needs.

6) Agreement on the consequential impact of changes in the acute sector
Local areas should identify, provider-by-provider, what the impact will be in their local area, including if the impact goes beyond the acute sector. Assurance will also be sought on public and patient and service user engagement in this planning, as well as plans for political buy-in.
Ministers have indicated that, in line with the Mandate requirements on achieving parity of esteem for mental health, plans must not have a negative impact on the level and quality of mental health services.

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 26



Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Bury

Data Submission Period:
Q4 2014/15

Narrative remaining characters 32,191

Please provide any additional information you feel is appropriate to support the return including explanation of any material variances
against the plan and associated performance trajectory that was approved by NHS England.
We are awaiting formal evaluation of the Better Care Fund Schemes in June 2015 in order to inform the plan for and subsequent roll out of the
Bury wide approach in line with the BCF plan submitted. One of the schemes - the Intermediate Care Review, reported in May  and will be
implemented from September 2015 in line with the plan submitted. As articulated in the BCF plan, due to the financial situation in Bury - the
BCF plan and schemes are focused on reshaping existing services not  pump priming new services hence the need for review and evaluation
prior to roll out.

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page | 1

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Child Death Overview Panel Annual Report (2013/14)

Date 14th May 2015

Contact Officer Donna Green

HWB Lead in this 
area

Director of Public Health 

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

The aggregated findings from all child 
deaths should inform local strategic 
planning, including the local Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment, on how to 
best safeguard and promote welfare of 
children in the area (Working Together 
2015)

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Living_well_in_Bury_
Making_it_happen_together_Version_8-4.pdf

Priority 1
Please see report data relating to risk 
factors associated with premature 
birth, & low birth weight. 

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

Bury JSNA - Final for 
HWBB 3.pdf

Pregnancy and Early Years

Safe sleeping messages, & risk factors 
identified in pregnancy.

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Please see attached CDOP action plan 

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

The aggregated findings from all child 
deaths should inform local strategic 
planning, including the local Joint 

Document Pack Page 29 Agenda Item 9



Page | 2

Strategic Needs Assessment, on how to 
best safeguard and promote welfare of 
children in the area. 
Each CDOP should prepare an annual 
report of relevant information for the 
LSCB. 

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

BSCB 11th March 2015

2. Introduction / Background

The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) functions in relation to child 

deaths are set out in Regulation 6 of the Local Safeguarding Children Boards 

Regulations 2006, made under section 14(2) of the Children Act 2004. The LSCB 

is responsible for: 

a) collecting and analysing information about each death with a view to 

identifying - 

(i) any case giving rise to the need for a review mentioned in regulation 5(1)(e); 

(ii) any matters of concern affecting the safety and welfare of children in the 

area of the authority; 

(iii) any wider public health or safety concerns arising from a particular death or 

from a pattern of deaths in that area; and 

(b) putting in place procedures for ensuring that there is a coordinated response 

by the authority, their Board partners and other relevant persons to an 

unexpected death.

The LSCB is responsible for ensuring that a review of each death of a child 
normally resident in the LSCB’s area is undertaken by a Child Death Overview 
Panel (CDOP). The purpose of a child death review is to help prevent further 
such child deaths. 

One or more LSCBS can chose to share a CDOP. CDOPs responsible for 
reviewing child deaths from larger populations are better able to identify 
significant recurrent contributory factors. 

Document Pack Page 30



Page | 3

The Child Death Overview Panel functions as a sub group of the LSCB and meets 
bi-monthly.  Bury LSCB participates in a tripartite arrangement with the 
Rochdale and Oldham LSCBs. 

The CDOP is currently chaired by the Oldham Director of Public Health. 

3. key issues for the Board to Consider

Please see Point 1 Executive summary

4. Recommendations for action

Reviewing recommendations from previous years highlights the same emerging 
themes for 2013/2014 in relation to:
 

• the disproportionate number of deaths within the BME community 
• co-ordinating a consistent safe sleeping message and 
• consanguinity and the associated health risks 

This year the Annual Report identified a link between consanguineous 
relationships and the disproportionate number of children with disabilities and 
child deaths within the BME community. 

The CDOP produced the 2013/14 Action Plan which provides an update of work 
ongoing from 2012/2013. Many of these items will be carried forward to 
2013/2014 and submitted to the 3 Local Safeguarding Children Boards.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

See point 4 

Document Pack Page 31

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


Page | 4

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:       Donna Green

Telephone number: 01612537329

 E-mail address:       donna.green@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 14th May 2015 

Document Pack Page 32



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

BURY, ROCHDALE & OLDHAM 
 

Child Death Overview Panel 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Annual Report 

 
April 2013 – March 2014 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

Document Pack Page 33

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAgQjRw&url=http://www.bury.gov.uk/index.aspx?articleid%3D5103&ei=fX5jVPPyNpbbsASay4LIBA&psig=AFQjCNHiXKkyCMXWQgt3SjPWHm63c-jZuw&ust=1415892989993256


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
 
1. Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………....4 

- A Summary of the Key Findings…………………………………………………4 
- Activity of the Child Death Overview Panel…………………………………. 5 

 
2. Roles and Responsibilities of the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP)…..….6 
 
3. Panel Membership……………………………………………………………………….….7 

 
4. Panel Attendance………………………………………………………………………..….8 
 
5. 2013/2014 Notifications to the CDOP…………………………………………….……9 

 
6. Data by Childs Year of Death……………………………………….……………………10 
 
7. Cases Closed Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014……………………….…11 

- Time taken for Completion and Closure of Cases……………………...…11 
- Categorisation of Cases……………………………………………………….…12 
- Categorisation of Preventability…………………………………………….…13 

 
8. Child Population across the Local Authorities………………………………………15 
 
9. Childs Age at Death……………………………………………………………………...…17 
 
10. Child Deaths Under 1……………………………………………………………….……...22 

- Neonatal Deaths………………………………………………………………...…22 
- Smoking during Pregnancy………………………………………………..……22 
- Prematurity & Birth Weight…………………………………………………….23 
- Multiple Pregnancies………………………………………………………………25 

 
11. Gender across the Local Authorities…………………………………………..………26 

- Life expectancy……………………………………………………………..………26 
 
12. Gender of Child Deaths……………………………………………………………………27 
 
13.  Ethnicity across the Local Authorities…………………………………………..……29 
 
14.  Ethnicity of Child Deaths…………………………………………………………………30 

 
 

Document Pack Page 34



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Contents continued  
 

15. Consanguinity……………………………………………………………………….….……32 
- Genetics & Consanguinity…………………………………………………..32 
- Consanguinity & Child Deaths…………………………………………..…33 
- Consanguinity and the Associated Health Risks………………………33 
- How does Consanguinity affect the Population?..........................34 
- Consanguinity and Children with Disabilities………………………….36 

 
16.  Levels of Deprivation………………………………………………………………….…..37 

- Quintiles…………………………………………………………………….……38 
 
17. Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy (SUDI) ………………………………………41 

- SUDI Year on Year……………………………………………………….…….41 
- Safe Sleeping Information…………………………………………………..43 

 
18. Suicides……………………………………………………………………………..............44 

 
19. Ingestion of Hazardous Substances………………………………………………......45 
 
20. Recommendations…………………………………………………………………..........47 
 
21. 2013/2014 Action Plan…………………………………………………………………..…50 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Document Pack Page 35



 
 
 
 
 
 
The Bury, Rochdale and Oldham Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) would like to welcome you to the sixth annual report, 
which reviews cases referred to the panel between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014. 
 
In April 2008 Bury, Rochdale and Oldham joined to form a tripartite arrangement following the recommendation made by 
the Department for Education (DfE) that CDOPs require a total population of 500,000 or higher. The joint working of the 
three local authorities provides a wider data set to conduct analysis and investigate emerging trends. 
 
The Bury, Rochdale and Oldham Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) is 1 of 4 CDOPs in Greater Manchester. 
 
 

Manchester North Bury, Rochdale and Oldham 
Manchester South Tameside, Trafford and Stockport 
Manchester West Bolton, Salford and Wigan 
Manchester City Manchester 

 
 
As a subgroup of the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB), the CDOP reports information and themes back to each 
of the LSCBs via the annual report and on an ad hoc basis.  
 
The Greater Manchester Child Death Database was implemented across the four CDOPs and is populated by the CDOP 
Officers with information for each child death notification received. The database contains information regarding all 
deaths referred to the panel and is an extremely useful tool when extracting data to support the annual report and 
information requests from the DfE.  
 
The CDOP continues to distribute information for parents via the Register Office. Registrars across Greater Manchester 
agreed to distribute the Foundation for the Study of Infant Deaths (FSID) booklet ‘The child death review: A guide for 
parents and carers’ to parents when registering a child death to ensure information is provided at an appropriate time. If 
parents have any queries they can put these in writing to the CDOP to request further information regarding the process.  
The Lullaby Trust (formally known as FSID) has recently revised the leaflet ‘The Child Death Review: A Guide for Parents 
and Carers’ which will be continued to be distributed by the Registrar. 
 
 

A Summary of the Key Findings 
The report analyses the total number of child deaths reported to the CDOP between 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 and 
breaks these figures down into each borough to identify any themes locally.   
 

• Since the CDOP was established in 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2013 there have been a total of 409 child death 
notifications reported to panel. 

• Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 the CDOP received a total of 74 child death notifications  
• With 33 of the 74 child deaths Oldham received the largest number of notifications totalling 44%.  Of the 3 

boroughs joint child population (149,281) Oldham has the largest child population (56,557) totalling 38%. 
• Of the 59 cases closed 18 (32%) were categorise as having modifiable factors and 41 (69%) categorised as having 

no modifiable factors.  Of the 18 modifiable cases the largest number of deaths were categorised as 
perinatal/neonatal (8, 44%).  Of the 8 perinatal/neonatal deaths 7 Mothers smoked during pregnancy which the 
CDOP deem as modifiable.  5 (28%) of modifiable cases were categorised as trauma and other external factors, 3 
of which were involved in a road traffic collision where the child was either the driver of the vehicle or a passenger.   

• All three of the local authorities found the highest number of deaths occurred in neonates (deaths within 28 days 
of life) with a joint total of 43% of the overall deaths.  Another large proportion of the deaths occurred in children 
aged 29 - 365 days, calculating 23%.  If we combine the two categories this would indicate that 49 of the 74 child 
deaths (66%) occurred within the first year of life.   

• Of the 74 child death notifications 48 (65%) of these were male and 26 (35%) were female.  In comparison to the 
joint CDOP child population there is a higher percentage of males (51%) than females (49%)  

1. Introduction 

Page 4 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 36

http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/file/-----internal-documents/Lullaby-CDR_Booklet.pdf
http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/file/-----internal-documents/Lullaby-CDR_Booklet.pdf


• There was a 50/50 split in the number of child deaths of White/White British ethnicity 37 (50%) and children from 
the Black Minority Ethnic community 37 (50%). 

• Of the 37 BME child deaths across Bury, Rochdale and Oldham, 23 of these were of Pakistani heritage totalling 
62% of the BME deaths. Children of Bangladeshi heritage accounted for 16% (6) of the total BME deaths, making 
these two ethnic groups the most prevalent within the BME community.  

• Of the 37 BME deaths, consanguinity was relevant and directly linked to 27% (10) of the child deaths. 
• In comparison to Bury and Rochdale, Oldham has a much larger percentage of child deaths from the BME 

community.  Of the 33 Oldham child deaths 22 (66%) of these were from the BME community. Oldham has a 
much higher percentage of child deaths from the Pakistani community in comparison to Bury and Rochdale.  

• Of the 15 cases where it was recorded that Mother and Father were related 10 of these deaths were directly linked 
to parents being first cousins making up 14% of the total 74 deaths.   

• All 10 of the children were of Pakistani heritage.  In 5 of the 10 families, siblings have also been diagnosed with the 
same inherited life limiting condition and/or there has been a previous death of a sibling. 

• The highest number of deaths linked to consanguinity occurred in Oldham (4, 40%) and Rochdale (4, 40%) 
• Statistics from the Children with Disabilities Team highlighted a disproportion number of children from the BME 

community known to the service in comparison to the BME child population.  A common theme across the three 
local authorities is that children with disabilities of Pakistani heritage are the most prevalent ethnic group within 
the BME community.  The figures suggest that there is a link between consanguinity and children with disabilities 
given that consanguineous relationship and cousin marriage is mostly practiced within the Pakistani community.  

• Of the 74 child deaths the largest number of deaths occurred where the child/family resided in areas of 
deprivation (quintile 1 and 2) totalling 39% (51) of the total deaths.  Of these 51 child deaths in quintile 1 and 2 a 
large percentage of the deaths occurred in neonates (18, 35%) 

• The CDOP was notified of 7 potential SUDI child deaths. Following the conclusion of a post mortem examination 
and/or inquest the Pathologist and the Coroner has ascertained the cause of death as Unascertained/Natural 
Causes (of unascertained origin) for 5 of the SUDI deaths.  Of the 5 confirmed SUDI deaths co-sleeping on a sofa 
or in a parental bed was identified in 3 of the cases where overheating was documented as a risk factor.   

 
 
 

Activity of the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) 
 
Over the years the CDOP has become more robust in data collection to identify specific patterns and trends in child 
deaths.  The more detailed the information the more in-depth analysis can be performed to support local and regional 
emerging themes.  Working collaboratively with CDOPs across Greater Manchester is extremely beneficial to bench mark 
the CDOP with neighbouring local authorities.  Not only does this provide a much larger foot print for data analysis and 
comparative data but also provides the opportunity for CDOPs to effectively work together on raising awareness of 
specific issues.   
 
In recent years the 4 CDOPs have extracted data and merged the information to form the basis of the Greater Manchester 
Child Death Overview Annual Report.  The report provides an overview of cases closed between 1 April to 31 March and 
can be found via the Greater Manchester Safeguarding Children Partnership website. 
 
In February 2014 the 3 Local Safeguarding Children Boards (LSCB) appointed Andrea Fallon, Consultant in Oldham Public 
Health as the new CDOP Chair.  It was agreed that Public Health are to chair the CDOP for the foreseeable future and will 
rotate the position across the 3 boroughs every 2 years.  Andrea Fallon has agreed to Chair the CDOP until 2015 when role 
will be rotated to either Bury or Rochdale Public Health. 
 
Unfortunately the post of the CDOP Officer was vacant for 4 months from April 2014 to July 2014.  This resulted in the 
delay of producing the annual report but has allowed the panel to gather further information in relation to the cases 
discussed in the report.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 37

http://www.gmsafeguardingchildren.co.uk/


 
 
 
 
 
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) operates in line with the Chapter 5: Child Death Reviews of Working Together 
2013  
 
The Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) functions in relation to child deaths are set out in Regulation 6 of the LSCBs 
Regulations 2006, made under section 14(2) of the Children Act 2004. The LSCB is responsible for:  
 
a) Collecting and analysing information about each death with a view to identifying—  

i) Any case giving rise to the need for a review mentioned in regulation 5(1)(e);  
ii) Any matters of concern affecting the safety and welfare of children in the area of the authority;  
iii) Any wider public health or safety concerns arising from a particular death or from a pattern of deaths in            

that area; and  
 
b) Putting in place procedures for ensuring that there is a coordinated response by the authority, their Board partners and 
other relevant persons to an unexpected death.  
 
The functions of the CDOP include:  
 

• reviewing all child deaths up to the age of 18, excluding those babies who are stillborn and planned terminations 
of pregnancy carried out within the law;  
 

• collecting and collating information on each child and seeking relevant information from professionals and, where 
appropriate, family members;  
 

• discussing each child’s case, and providing relevant information or any specific actions related to individual 
families to those professionals who are involved directly with the family so that they, in turn, can convey this 
information in a sensitive manner to the family;  
 

• determining whether the death was deemed preventable, that is, those deaths in which modifiable factors may 
have contributed to the death and decide what, if any, actions could be taken to prevent future such deaths;  
 

• making recommendations to the LSCB or other relevant bodies promptly so that action can be taken to prevent 
future such deaths where possible;  
 

• identifying patterns or trends in local data and reporting these to the LSCB;  
 

• where a suspicion arises that neglect or abuse may have been a factor in the child’s death, referring a case back to 
the LSCB Chair for consideration of whether an SCR is required;  
 

• agreeing local procedures for responding to unexpected deaths of children; and  
 

• cooperating with regional and national initiatives – for example, with the National Clinical Outcome Review 
Programme – to identify lessons on the prevention of child deaths.  

 
The aggregated findings from all child deaths should inform local strategic planning, including the local Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment, on how to best safeguard and promote the welfare of children in the area. Each CDOP should prepare 
an annual report of relevant information for the LSCB. This information should in turn inform the LSCB annual report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Roles and Responsibilities of the Child Death Overview 

Page 6 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 38

http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/documents/Working%20TogetherFINAL.pdf
http://www.workingtogetheronline.co.uk/documents/Working%20TogetherFINAL.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 
The Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP) membership is made up of multi-agency professionals from across the three local 
authorities. Membership is rotated across the boroughs every 3 years. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Name Position Organisation Representing the Local 
Authority 

Andrea Fallon CDOP Chair Consultant in Public 
Health Public Health Oldham 

Abdul Rehman SUDI Paediatrician Pennine Acute Hospitals Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 

Alison Kelly Named Nurse for Safeguarding 
Children & Adults 

HMR Community Services 
 Rochdale 

Amanda Smith Child Safeguarding Lead Pennine Care (Mental Health) Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 

Chris Howard Paediatrican Pennine Care Oldham 

David Devane Safeguarding Lead for Education Education Oldham 

Hazel Chamberlain Designated Nurse - Children's 
Safeguarding 

NHS Rochdale Clinical Commissioning 
Group Rochdale 

Laurene Mannix Named Nurse - Safeguarding 
Children Pennine Acute Trust Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 

Maxine Lomax Designated Nurse for Safeguarding 
(Children and Adults) 

NHS Bury Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) Bury 

Rob Rifkin Designated Doctor for 
Safeguarding Children Bury CCG and HMR CCG Bury & Rochdale 

Sandra Bruce Children's Service Manager 
(Safeguarding Unit) Social Care Rochdale 

Kirsty Leyden / 
Tim Cooke Detective Sergeants Greater Manchester Police Bury, Rochdale & Oldham 

3. Panel Membership 

Page 7 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 39



 
 
 
 
 
The below table provides a summary of the 2013/14 attendance of panel members.   
 

Name Organisation 
June  
2013 

September 
2013 

December 
2013 

February 
2014 

Andrea Fallon Chair (Oldham Public Health)    X X 

Mick Lay  Independent Chair X X   

Abdul Rehman SUDC Paediatrican X X   

Alison Kelly Pennine Community Service     

Amanda Smith Pennine Care (Mental Health)   X  

Chris Howard  Oldham, Pennine Care  X  X 

David Devane Oldham, Education X X X X 

Donna Green Bury LSCB Development Manager X X X  
Elizabeth Wilson Rochdale, Public Health X X X  
Hazel Chamberlain Rochdale, Clinical Commissioning 

Group 
X  X X 

Kim Gaskell Pennine Acute Hospitals X X X  
Kirsty Leyden/ Nicola 
Fagan/ Tim Cooke 

Greater Manchester Police 
X X X X 

Laurene Mannix Pennine Acute Hospitals    X 
Sandra Bruce Rochdale, Social Care X  

(AM Only) 
 X X 

Stephanie Davern CDOP Officer X X X X 

Guests/Attendees on behalf of an absent panel member 

Andy Searle (Interim) Independent Chair    X  

Deborah Butcher On behalf of Alison Kelly    X 

Deepak Upadhyay On behalf of Chris Howard X    

Glynis Williams Observer: Oldham Social Care X (AM Only)    

Mike Leaf Observer: Lancashire CDOP Chair X    
 
 

In attendance   No longer a CDOP member  Apologies or did not attend     
 
 
 
At the December 2013 CDOP the group agreed to change the format of the panel meetings from 4 full day meetings to 6 
bi-monthly meetings annually effective from 2014 onwards.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

X 

4. Panel Attendance 

Page 8 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 40



 
 
 
 
 
From the 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 the CDOP received a total of 74 child death notifications aged 0 – 17 years of age. 
 

 
Bury  19 26% 
Rochdale 22 30% 
Oldham  33 44% 
Total  74 
 
 
 
Since the CDOP was established on 1 April 2008 to the 31 March 2014 there have been a total of 409 child death 
notifications reported to panel.   The below table provides a breakdown of year on year data based on the year the death 
was notified to the CDOP. 
 
 

 
2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 Total 

Bury 5 15 18 21 16 19 94 

Rochdale 17 24 19 26 27 22 135 

Oldham 23 27 37 36 22 33 178 

Total 45 66 75 84 65 74 409 

*Out of Area 0 <3 <3 0 <3 0 3 
 
 
*NB: In 2009/10 there was an error in information and the panel discussed a Lancashire child death where the address was 
mistaken as Bury.  This case was included in the 2009/10 annual report statistics for Bury but referred onto the Lancashire 
CDOP for information.  In 2010/11 the CDOP reviewed a Tameside death where the child died following an unexpected 
accident in the area of Rochdale.  In 2013/14 the panel reviewed a Tameside baby as professionals involved were linked to 
the family.  
 
These 3 cases have not been included in the statistics, nor will they be used throughout the report to ensure that the data 
is that of only Bury, Rochdale and Oldham.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

26% 

30% 

44% 

Bury
Rochdale
Oldham

5. 2013/2014 Notifications to CDOP 

Page 9 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 41



 
 
 
 
 
Each year the CDOP bases the Annual Report data set on the number of child deaths referred to the CDOP from 01 April to 
31 March.  The data below shows the number of child deaths categorised by the year the death occurred.  These figures 
may change slightly if in future the panel receives a late notification from previous years.  The data for 2014 will be 
included in the 2014/2015 CDOP Annual Report. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

2008 9 21 22 52 

2009 11 21 33 65 

2010 17 20 34 71 

2011 20 21 28 69 

2012 15 22 24 61 

2013 17 28 26 71 

 
89 133 167 389 

 
 
Although there has been no significant rise or fall in the number of deaths since 2008 the above statistics indicate the 
largest number of child deaths occurred in 2010 and 2013.  Whilst the fewest number of child deaths occurred in 2008 it is a 
possibility that there was potentially a lack in notifications to the CDOP as the panel was newly established.  There was 
initially a discussion amongst CDOPs regarding notifications of infant deaths under 24 weeks gestation, until the 
Department of Education revised Working Together to Safeguard Children in 2010 to state that CDOPS are to discuss ‘all 
child deaths up to the age of 18 years (excluding both those babies who are stillborn and planned terminations of pregnancy 
carried out within the law)’ 
 
Excluding 2013, Oldham has been the local authority with the largest number of child deaths year on year and has the 
largest child population of the three local authorities.   Of the three boroughs Bury continues to have the lowest number of 
child deaths year on year and has smallest child population of the three local authorities. 
 
From January 2014 to March 2014 there have been 20 child death notifications.   Data for the total number of deaths in 
2014 continues to be collated and will be provided in the 2014/15 Annual Report.   
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Bury

Rochdale

Oldham

6. Data by Childs Year of Death 

Page 10 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 42



 
 
 
 
 
From 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 the CDOP discussed and closed a total of 59 cases. 
 
Bury  13 22% 
Rochdale 20 34%  
Oldham  24 41%  
Out of Area <3  3% 
Total  59 
 
 
Of the 59 cases closed 23 (39%) were notified to the CDOP in 2013/14 and the remaining 36 (61%) cases were referred prior 
to 1 April 2013.   A number of these cases were subject to investigations (such as Post Mortem Examination, Inquests, 
Police/CPS Prosecution, Serious Case Reviews, Internal Review/Audit) thus prolonging the discussion and closure of the 
cases.    
 

Year Referred to CDOP 

2010/11 6 

2011/12 5 

2012/13 25 

2013/14 23 
 
 
As the Annual Report bases its data set on the number of notifications received, in-depth analysis for the 36 cases referred 
prior to 1 April 2013 is detailed in previous annual reports. 
 
Of the 74 cases referred to the CDOP between 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014, 23 (31%) of these were closed within the 
same year and 51 (69%) remain open for discussion.  
 
Under the revised Rule 8 of the Coroners (Inquest) Rules 2013, Coroners are now required to complete an inquest within 6 
months of the date on which the Coroner is made aware of the death, or as soon as is reasonably practicable.  The change 
in legislation will significantly reduce the length of time between the date of notification and date closed for cases subject 
to post mortem examination and/or inquisition. 
 
 

Time taken for Completion and Closure of Cases 
 
Of the 59 cases closed between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 a large proportion of the cases were closed within 6 
months of the date of notification.  Whilst 32% (19) of the cases remained open for over a year 16 (84%) of these were 
subject to some form of investigation such as post mortem, inquest, police investigation/CPS prosecution, serious case 
review, internal review etc. 
 
 

Time taken to Close Cases 

Under 6 months 26 44% 

6 to 7 months 5 8% 

8 to 9 months 4 7% 

10 to 11 months 4 7% 

12 months <3 2% 

Over 1 year 19 32% 

Total 59 
 

 

7. Cases Closed Between 1 April 2013 & 31 March 2014 

Page 11 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 43



Categorisation of Cases 
 
Once the CDOP has discussed a case and are in agreement that sufficient information has been collated, a Form C Analyais 
Profroma is completed by multi-agency professionals.  The Department for Education national templates assist the panel 
to review the circumstances leading to death and identify any emerging trends.  
 
The Department for Education requires CDOPs to allocate each child death under one of the following categories: 
 

1. Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect 
This includes suffocation, shaking injury, knifing, shooting, poisoning & other means of probable or definite 
homicide; also deaths from war, terrorism or other mass violence; includes severe neglect leading to death. 

 
2. Suicide or deliberate self-inflicted harm  

This includes hanging, shooting, self-poisoning with paracetamol, death by self-asphyxia, from solvent inhalation, 
alcohol or drug abuse, or other form of self-harm.  It will usually apply to adolescents rather than younger 
children. 

 
3. Trauma and other external factors  

This includes isolated head injury, other or multiple trauma, burn injury, drowning, unintentional self-poisoning in 
pre-school children, anaphylaxis & other extrinsic factors.  Excludes deliberately inflected injury, abuse or neglect. 
(category 1). 

 
4. Malignancy 

Solid tumours, leukaemias & lymphomas, and malignant proliferative conditions such as histiocytosis, even if the 
final event leading to death was infection, haemorrhage etc. 

 
5. Acute medical or surgical condition  

For example, Kawasaki disease, acute nephritis, intestinal volvulus, diabetic ketoacidosis, acute asthma, 
intussusception, appendicitis; sudden unexpected deaths with epilepsy. 

 
6. Chronic medical condition  

For example, Crohn’s disease, liver disease, immune deficiencies, even if the final event leading to death was 
infection, haemorrhage etc. Includes cerebral palsy with clear post-perinatal cause. 

 
7. Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies  

Trisomies, other chromosomal disorders, single gene defects, neurodegenerative disease, cystic fibrosis, and 
other congenital anomalies including cardiac. 

 
8. Perinatal/neonatal event  

Death ultimately related to perinatal events, eg sequelae of prematurity, antepartum and intrapartum anoxia, 
bronchopulmonary dysplasia, post-haemorrhagic hydrocephalus, irrespective of age at death.  It includes cerebral 
palsy without evidence of cause, and includes congenital or early-onset bacterial infection (onset in the first 
postnatal week). 

 
9. Infection  

Any primary infection (ie, not a complication of one of the above categories), arising after the first postnatal 
week, or after discharge of a preterm baby.  This would include septicaemia, pneumonia, meningitis, HIV 
infection etc. 

 
10. Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 

Where the pathological diagnosis is either ‘SIDS’ or ‘unascertained’, at any age.  Excludes Sudden Unexpected 
Death in Epilepsy (category 5). 
 

 
This classification is hierarchical: where more than one category could reasonably be applied, the highest up the list is 
marked. 
 
 
 

Page 12 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 44



Categorisation of Death Bury Rochdale Oldham 
Out of 
Area 

Total 

Perinatal/neonatal event  7 7 9 <3 24 41% 

Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies  <3 4 3 0 9 15% 

Acute medical or surgical condition  0 3 5 0 8 14% 

Trauma and other external factors  0 3 4 <3 8 14% 

Malignancy <3 0 <3 0 4 7% 

Chronic medical condition  0 <3 <3 0 3 5% 

Infection  <3 <3 0 0 <3 3% 

Suicide or deliberate self-inflicted harm  <3 0 0 0 <3 1% 

Deliberately inflicted injury, abuse or neglect 0 0 0 0 0 0% 

Sudden unexpected, unexplained death 0 0 0 0 0 0% 

Total 13 20 24 <3 59 100% 
 
 
The largest number of deaths occurred in the category perinatal/neonatal event with 24 (41. %) of the 59 cases.  Of the 24 
perinatal/neonatal deaths 2 (8%) were full term pregnancies and 22 (92%) were born premature (<37 weeks gestation)  
 

• 21  Extremely premature (<26 weeks gestation) 
• 2 Premature (26 - <36 weeks gestation) 

 
Of the 24 perinatal/neonatal deaths 21 (87%) babies were delivered at a low birth weight of less than 2500 grams. 
 
Another large percentage of the deaths were represented in chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies totalling 9 
deaths (15 %), 5 (55%) of which consanguinity was recorded as a contributing factor. 
 
 
 

Categorisation of Preventability 
For each case discussed and closed the CDOP professionals will determine the categorisation of preventability.  In line with 
the Department for Education, the CDOP must categorise the case under one of the following: 
 
 

1. Modifiable factors identified 
The panel have identified one or more factors, in any domain, which may have contributed to the death of 
the child and which, by means of locally or nationally achievable interventions, could be modified to reduce 
the risk of future child deaths 
 
 

2. No Modifiable factors identified 
The panel have not identified any potentially modifiable factors in relation to this death 
 
 

3. Inadequate information upon which to make a judgement  
NB this category should be used very rarely indeed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 45



 
 

 
Modifiable factors identified No modifiable factors identified 

Bury 3 10 

Rochdale 6 14 

Oldham 8 16 

Out of Area <3 <3 

Total 18 (31%) 41 (69%) 
 
 
 
Of the 59 cases closed between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 the panel identified modifiable factors in 18 (31%) deaths.  
The remaining 41 (69%) cases were categorised as having no modifiable factors.   
 
Of the 18 modifiable cases the largest number of deaths were categorised as perinatal/neonatal (8, 44%).  Of the 8 
perinatal/neonatal deaths 7 Mothers smoked during pregnancy which the CDOP deem as modifiable.  Due to the 
associated health risks linked to smoking in pregnancy all 4 CDOPs across Greater Manchester have agreed to categorise 
neonatal/premature deaths as having modifiable factors where Mother smoked in pregnancy. 
 
5 (28%) of modifiable cases were categorised as trauma and other external factors, 3 of which were involved in a road 
traffic collision where the child was either the driver of the vehicle or a passenger.   
 
 

Modifiable Factors and the category of death Modifiable factors identified 

Perinatal/neonatal event 8 44% 

Trauma and other external factors 5 28% 

Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies 3 17% 

Acute medical or surgical condition <3 11% 

Total 18 100% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14 of 50 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Bury Rochdale Oldham Out of Area

Modifiable factors identified

No modifiable factors identified

Document Pack Page 46



 
 
 
 
 
The below table provides information from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 2011 Census, providing a breakdown of 
age across the child population for children aged 0 – 17 years. 
 
 

Age England 
North 
West 

Greater 
Manchester 

Bury Rochdale Oldham 
CDOP 
Total 

Infants, 
Children 
& 
Young 
People 

Age 0 to 4 3,318,449 432,091 181,245 12,235 14,754 16,491 43,480 

Age 5 to 9 2,972,632 392,166 158,523 11,108 13,148 15,422 39,678 

Age 10 to 14 3,080,929 412,407 160,304 11,361 13,925 15,337 40,623 

Age 15 to 17 1,964,950 265,375 101,552 7,248 8,945 9,307 25,500 

Total 11,336,960 1,502,039 601,624 41,952 50,772 56,557 149,281 

Adults 

Age 18 to 19 1,375,315 191,462 74,759 4,297 5,480 5,749 - 

Age 20 to 24 3,595,321 489,640 203,899 10,688 14,005 14,586 - 

Age 25 to 29 3,650,881 466,582 200,933 11,622 14,111 15,177 - 

Age 30 to 44 10,944,271 1,394,536 560,081 37,977 42,914 44,945 - 

Age 45 to 59 10,276,902 1,397,119 500,860 37,272 41,147 42,055 - 

Age 60 to 64 3,172,277 439,644 150,623 11,712 12,454 12,875 - 

Age 65 to 74 4,552,283 627,742 211,280 16,292 16,642 18,280 - 

Age 75 to 84 2,928,118 394,596 129,230 9,623 10,367 10,465 - 

Age 85 to 89 776,311 99,316 32,995 2,397 2,632 2,760 - 

Age 90 & over 403,817 49,501 16,244 1,228 1,175 1,448 - 

Total Population 53,012,456 7,052,177 2,682,528 185,060 211,699 224,897 621,656 

 
 
The ONS data shows the total child population across the three local authorities as 149,281, with the highest number of 
children being ages 0 to 4 at 29.1%.   
 
 
Age 0 to 4 43,480  29.1 % 
Age 5 to 9 39,678  26.6 % 
Age 10 to 14 40,623  27.2 % 
Age 15 to 17 25,500  17.1 % 
Total  149,281 
 
 
The 2011 Census data compiled by the Office of National Statistics shows that Bury, Rochdale and Oldham have a 
combined population of 621,656 of which 149,281 (24%) are children under 18 years of age.   Of the three local authorities 
Oldham has the largest percentage of children in its area.  
 
 

 
Total Population Child Population 

Bury 185,060 41,952 22.7 % 

Rochdale 211,699 50,772 24.0 % 

Oldham  224,897 56,557 25.1 % 

Total 621,656 149,281 24 % 
 
 

8. Child Population across the Local Authorities 

Page 15 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 47



When comparing the 2001 Census and the 2011 Census there has been an increase in the total population across Bury, 
Rochdale and Oldham by 3.1% from 603,226 to 621,656.  Whilst the total population (all ages) has increased the child 
population (0 – 17 years) has decreased by 2.2 % from 152,695 to 149,281.  Of the three local authority’s only Oldham saw 
a slight increase in child population by 0.7% from 56,181 to 56,557. 
 
 

 

2001 Population 2011 Population 

Child Population Total Population Child Population Total Population 

Bury 43,750 180,604 41,952 185,060 

Rochdale 52,764 205,360 50,772 211,699 

Oldham  56,181 217,262 56,557 224,897 

Total 152,695 603,226 149,281 621,656 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 48



 
 
 
 
 
The below graph contains information of the 74 child deaths referred to panel from the 1 April 2013 to the 31 March 2014 
and provides an overview of the child’s age at death.  
 
 

 
 
 

Age at Death Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

0 - 28 days 9 8 15 32 43% 

29 - 364 days 6 4 7 17 23% 

1 - 4 years <3 <3 5 7 9% 

5 - 9 years <3 3 <3 6 8% 

10 - 14 years <3 4 3 8 11% 

15 - 17 years 0 <3 <3 4 5% 

Total 19 22 33 74 100% 
 
 
0 - 28 days 32 43% 
29 - 364 days 17 23% 
1 - 4 years 7 9% 
5 - 9 years 6 8% 
10 - 14 years 8 11% 
15 - 17 years 4 5% 
 
 
All three of the local authorities found the highest number of deaths occurred in neonates (deaths within 28 days of life) 
with a joint total of 43% (32) of the overall deaths.  Another large proportion of the deaths occurred in children aged 29 - 
365 days, calculating 23% (17).  If we combine the two categories this would indicate that 49 (66%) of the 74 child deaths 
occurred within the first year of life.   
 
Of the total 409 child death notifications from 1st April 2008 to 31st March 2014, neonatal deaths make up 43% (175) and 
children who died between 29 - 365 days make up 22% (91) of the total deaths.   
 
 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

0 - 28 days 29 - 364 days 1 - 4 years 5 - 9 years 10 - 14 years 15 - 17 years

Bury

Rochdale

Oldham

9. Childs Age at Death 

Page 17 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 49



Collating joint data based on the child’s year of death and comparing this year on year highlights that both neonates and 
babies under the age of 1 are those most at risk of reduced infant mortality.  These figures may change slightly if in future 
the panel receives a late notification from previous years.  The data for 2014 will be included in the 2014/2015 CDOP 
Annual Report. 
 
 

Age by Year of Death 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 

0 - 28 days 20 31 26 33 29 26 165 42% 

29 - 364 days 16 12 15 12 15 19 89 23% 

1 - 4 years 10 11 10 9 6 10 56 14% 

5 - 9 years 0 3 3 3 <3 7 18 5% 

10 - 14 years 3 4 7 5 5 8 32 8% 

15 - 17 years 3 4 10 7 4 <3 29 7% 

Total 52 65 71 69 61 72 389 100% 
 
 
The data above is that of Bury, Rochdale and Oldham only and does not include the 3 out of area cases referred to the 
panel.  Analyse of these cases has been undertaken by the child’s CDOP of residence and included in their annual report.  
 
Year on year the highest number of child deaths fall amongst children under the age of 1 as shown below:  
 
2008 36 69% 
2009 43 66% 
2010 41 57% 
2011 45 65% 
2012 44 72% 
2013 45 62% 
 
Breaking down the data into the three local authorities provides a detailed overview of the number of deaths in each age 
group across the boroughs.   This data is based on the child’s year of death. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 18 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 50



Bury 
 

 
 
 

 
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 

0 - 28 days 5 5 5 9 8 7 39 44% 

29 - 364 days <3 <3 4 4 4 5 20 22% 

1 - 4 years <3 <3 <3 5 0 <3 13 15% 

5 - 9 years 0 <3 <3 0 0 <3 3 3% 

10 - 14 years 0 0 3 0 <3 <3 6 7% 

15 - 17 years 0 <3 <3 <3 <3 <3 8 9% 

Total 9 11 17 20 15 17 89 100 
 
 
The largest number of child deaths in Bury occurred in children under the age of 1 totalling 59 (66%) of the 89 deaths.  Of 
the 59 deaths under 1, 39 of (44%) these were neonatal deaths and 20 (22%) died between 28-365 days of life.  Another 
vulnerable age group was identified in children aged 1 – 4 years with 13 (15%) of the 89 deaths.   
 
In 2010 there was an increase in the number of child deaths in children aged 10 – 14 years.  A number of these children died 
from life limiting conditions.  
 
Of the three local authorities Bury has the least number of child deaths.  From viewing year in year statistics there has 
been no drastic increase/decrease in specific age groups due to figures being so small that an increase in 1 death can be 
viewed as much larger percentage but remains insignificant. 
 
The 1Index of Multiple Deprivation (2010) score gave the local authority a national rank order of 119th most–deprived 
district out of 326 in England (1 being the most deprived).   It would appear that there is an emerging link between the 
numbers of deaths where children lived within areas of deprivation.  Of the three local authorities Bury is the most affluent 
borough and has much smaller pockets of deprivation in comparison to Rochdale and Oldham. Whilst Bury has the 
smallest child population (41,952) of the three local authorities, we can assume that a low level of deprivation is one of the 
reasons why Bury has a smaller number of child deaths in comparison to Oldham and Rochdale.  
 
 
 

1 1Department for Communities and Local Government  http://opendatacommunities.org/data/societal-wellbeing/deprivation/imd-rank-la-2010  
The dataset contains a summary measure of the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 at local authority district level. It puts the 326 Local Authority 
Districts into a rank order based the population weighted average rank of all LSOAs in the LAD. A rank of 1 is the most deprived. 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

0 - 28 days

29 - 364 days

1 - 4 years

5 - 9 years

10 - 14 years

15 - 17 years

Page 19 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 51

http://opendatacommunities.org/data/societal-wellbeing/deprivation/imd-rank-la-2010


Rochdale 
 

 
 
 

 
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 

0 - 28 days 6 9 5 8 10 9 47 35% 

29 - 364 days 6 4 5 5 5 9 34 26% 

1 - 4 years 4 3 <3 0 3 <3 14 11% 

5 - 9 years 0 <3 <3 <3 0 3 7 5% 

10 - 14 years <3 3 <3 3 <3 5 17 13% 

15 - 17 years 3 <3 5 3 <3 0 14 11% 

Total 21 21 20 21 22 28 133 100% 
 
 
The largest number of child deaths in Rochdale occurred in children under the age of 1 totalling 81 (61%) of the 133 deaths.  
Of the 81 deaths under 1, 47 (35%) of these were neonatal deaths and 34 (26%) died between 28 -365 days of life. 
 
Unlike Bury and Oldham that identified children aged 1-4 years as the second most vulnerable group after under 1s, 
Rochdale have had slightly more child deaths aged 10 – 14 years (17/13%).  Of the total 17 deaths in children aged 10-14 
years, the largest number of deaths occurred due to life limiting conditions, 8/47%, and H1N1 Influenza (Swine Flu), 3/18%. 
 
Another age group largely represented are children aged 15 – 17 years.  In 2010 the number of child deaths aged 15 - 17 
years increased to 5 in comparison to previous years, making up 25% of the total 20 child deaths that year.  3 of these 
deaths were caused due to life limiting conditions.  2013 saw a decrease in the number of child deaths aged 15 – 17 years 
reported to CDOP. 
 
Of the total 14 child deaths aged 15-17 years the largest number of deaths occurred due to child with life limiting 
conditions, 5/36%.  A further 3/21% died due to infection and 3/21% following a road traffic collision.  
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (2010) score gave the local authority a national rank order of 29th most–deprived district 
out of 326 in England (1 being the most deprived). Of the 3 boroughs Rochdale is the most deprived local authority and 
demonstrates a link between the numbers of deaths where children lived within areas of deprivation. 
 
 
 
 

 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

0 - 28 days

29 - 364 days

1 - 4 years

5 - 9 years

10 - 14 years

15 - 17 years

Page 20 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 52



Oldham 

 
 
 

 

 
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Total 

0 - 28 days 9 17 16 16 11 10 79 47% 

29 - 364 days 8 7 6 3 6 5 35 21% 

1 - 4 years 4 6 6 4 3 6 29 17% 

5 - 9 years 0 <3 <3 <3 <3 3 8 5% 

10 - 14 years <3 <3 <3 <3 <3 <3 9 5% 

15 - 17 years 0 <3 3 <3 <3 0 7 4% 

Total 22 33 34 28 24 26 167 100% 
 
 
The largest number of child deaths in Oldham occurred in children under the age of 1 totalling 114 (68%) of the 167 deaths.  
Of the 167 deaths under 1, 79 (47%) of these were neonatal deaths and 35 (21%) died between 28 -365 days of life.   
 
Of the 3 boroughs Oldham has the largest child population (56,557/25%) and has received the most child death 
notifications in total.  There appears to be no significant increase/decrease in figures year on year in any particular age 
group. Oldham has received nearly double the amount of child deaths in comparison to Bury.  In comparison to Rochdale 
Oldham has received fewer child death notifications aged 10 – 14 years and 15 – 17 years.   
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (2010) score gave the local authority a national rank order of 46th most–deprived district 
out of 326 in England (1 being the most deprived). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

0 - 28 days

29 - 364 days

1 - 4 years

5 - 9 years

10 - 14 years

15 - 17 years

Page 21 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 53



 
 
 
 
 
Between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 child deaths under the age of 1 (excluding neonates) made up 17 (23%) of the 74 
notifications. Of the 17 child deaths the main causes of death were categorised as: 
 
 
Sudden unexpected, unexplained death  7 41% 
Perinatal/neonatal event    5 29% 
Chromosomal, genetic and congenital anomalies 3 18% 
 
 
Of the 17 deaths aged 29 days to 364 days, 3 of these were female (18%) and 14 male (82%). 10 children were from the 
BME community (59%) and 7 of the ethnicity White/White British (41%).   
 
The highest number of deaths occurred where the child was resident in quintile 1 (most deprived area), making up 11 (65%) 
of the total 17 deaths.  A further 3 (18%) deaths occurred  in quintile 2 (2nd Most Deprived).  Combining the two areas of 
deprivation highlights a total of 14 (83%) out of 17 deaths which occurred where the child was resident in a deprived area.  
 

 
Neonatal Deaths 
 
There are a number of contributing risk factors in neonatal deaths which include: 

1. Smoking during pregnancy  
2. Prematurity & birth weight 
3. Multiple pregnancies 

 
 
 

1. Smoking During Pregnancy  
2Mothers that smoke during pregnancy are exposing their unborn baby to harmful gases like carbon monoxide and other 
damaging chemicals.  There are a number of health risks when smoking during pregnancy which can include:  
 

• increased complications in pregnancy  
• less likely to have a healthier pregnancy and a healthier baby in comparison to those who do not smoke 
• increased risk of stillbirth 
• the baby is more likely to be born early and suffer additional breathing, feeding and health problems that often go 

with being premature 
• the baby is more likely to be born underweight: babies of women who smoke are, on average, 200g (about 8oz) 

lighter than other babies, which can cause problems during and after labour, for example they are more likely to 
have a problem keeping warm and are more prone to infection  

• increased risk of cot death 
• children whose parents smoke are more likely to suffer from asthma and other more serious illnesses that may 

need hospital treatment.  
 
3A study carried out by University College London researchers found that smoking during pregnancy increases the risk of 
birth defects, such as club foot and missing limbs.  The report is based on a systematic review which assessed previous 
research on smoking during pregnancy to determine the risks of birth defects.  It found that the risk of various birth 
defects increased for mothers who smoked, with the odds rising from between 9% and 50% for different abnormalities.  
The annual incidence of these sorts of defect is around 3 to 5% of births in the UK.  Overall, this was a well-conducted 
study, and its findings are convincing evidence that smoking increases the risk of some birth defects. 
 

2 NHS http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/smoking-pregnant.aspx  
3 NHS http://www.nhs.uk/news/2011/07July/Pages/smoking-in-pregnancy-link-to-birth-defects.aspx 
 

10. Child Deaths Under 1 

Page 22 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 54

http://humupd.oxfordjournals.org/content/17/5/589
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/smoking-pregnant.aspx
http://www.nhs.uk/news/2011/07July/Pages/smoking-in-pregnancy-link-to-birth-defects.aspx


 

 
Yes No Not Known Total 

Bury <3 8 0 9 

Rochdale <3 6 0 8 

Oldham 0 12 3 15 

Total 3 26 3 32 
 
 
Of the 32 neonatal deaths, Mothers smoking status was recorded in 29 cases (91%) and 3 were unknown (9%).  Of the 29 
deaths where Mother smoking status was recorded, 3 Mothers (10%) self-declared that they smoked during pregnancy 
and 26 Mothers (90%) stated they did not.  
 
Due to the health risks linked to smoking in pregnancy all CDOPs across Greater Manchester have agreed that for 
premature deaths, where Mother smoked during pregnancy, these would be categorised as having modifiable factors.  
(See Section 7 Cases Closed Between 1 April 2013 - 31 March 2014 for preventability).   
 
The NHS continues to work with Mothers that smoke during pregnancy to highlight the health risks to both Mother and 
baby.  When a Mother declares at booking that she is a smoker, she is offered a referral to smoking cessation.  This 
requires consent from the Mother and can be refused.  Information is requested about other household members who 
smoke and advice is also provided to them about the benefits of stopping smoking/cessation.  Parents are informed about 
the risks of smoking during pregnancy and once the baby is born the midwife will go through safe sleeping arrangements 
which incorporates smoking.  Information leaflets are provided to parents as well as verbal advice both before and after 
birth about the NHS Pregnancy Smoking Helpline.  
 
 
 

2. Prematurity and Birth Weight 
4About one baby in every 13 will be born prematurely.  The chances of survival depend on many factors including the stage 
of the pregnancy, birth weight, inherited abnormalities, condition at birth and presence or absence of infection. 
 
The NHS determines births at the gestation of 37 weeks and over as full term pregnancies.  Any delivery under 37 weeks 
gestation is classified as a premature birth.  Babies delivered under 26 weeks gestation are classified as extremely 
premature births. 
 
5Babies born extremely prematurely have very immature organs. They are at increased risk of problems in later childhood 
even if they survive the neonatal period.  These are some of the potential problems: 
 
 

• Damage to their brain, such as cerebral parenchymal cysts (small “holes” in the brain) and hydrocephalus (too 
much fluid in the brain). These changes can cause cerebral palsy and/or learning difficulties. 

• Damage to their eyes (retinopathy), which may affect their vision 
• Hearing problems 
• Damage to the lungs (chronic lung disease) causing breathing problems 
• Problems with feeding and long term growth 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4 NHS http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/premature-early-labour.aspx#close   
5 SUHT NHS Information: 
http://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/Controlleddocuments/Patientinformation/Pregnancyandbirth/Havinganextremelyprematurebaby-patientinformation.pdf  

Page 23 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 55

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/premature-early-labour.aspx%23close
http://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/Controlleddocuments/Patientinformation/Pregnancyandbirth/Havinganextremelyprematurebaby-patientinformation.pdf


6Babies who are born extremely premature have an increased rate of infant mortality: 
 

 
 
25 weeks gestation: 6 - 7 in 10 survive, of whom 4 in 10 have moderate to severe disability 
24 weeks gestation: 4-5 in 10 survive, of whom half have moderate to severe disability 
23 weeks gestation: 2-3 in 10 survive, of whom two thirds have moderate to severe disability 
22 weeks gestation: Only 1 in 100 babies survive with likely severe disability 
 
 
The below data is based on the 32 neonatal deaths referred to the CDOP between 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.  Of the 32 
neonatal deaths, 21 (66%) were born prematurely and 11 (34%) were born full term. 
 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Extremely Premature (<26 weeks) <3 4 7 13 41% 

Premature (26 weeks to <37 weeks) 4 <3 3 8 25% 

Full Term (37+ weeks) 3 3 5 11 34% 
 
 
Low birth weight is defined as a birth weight of a live born infant of less than 2,500 grams (5.5 pounds) regardless of 
gestational age.  This is another contributing factor for neonatal deaths as the earlier the gestation the lower the birth 
weight of the infant.  The below data is based on the 32 neonatal deaths referred to panel from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 
2014.  Of the 32 neonatal deaths, birth weight was recorded in 31 of the cases. 
 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Low Birth Weight <2500 Grams 5 5 10 20 65% 

2500+ Grams  3 3 5 11 35% 
 
 
Of the31 neonatal deaths where birth weight was recorded 20 of these (65%) were born with a low birth weight.  Of the 20 
cases recorded as having low birth weight 18 of these were born prematurely.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

6 The information in these charts comes from two large studies (EPICURE 1 in 1995 and EPICURE 2 in 2006), which assessed the outcome of large groups 
of babies that were born during these weeks of pregnancy in the U.K. 
http://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/Controlleddocuments/Patientinformation/Pregnancyandbirth/Havinganextremelyprematurebaby-patientinformation.pdf  

Page 24 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 56

http://www.uhs.nhs.uk/Media/Controlleddocuments/Patientinformation/Pregnancyandbirth/Havinganextremelyprematurebaby-patientinformation.pdf


3. Multiple Pregnancies 
7Many twins and triplets are born prematurely. The average delivery date for twins is 37 weeks and 33 weeks for triplets.  
Fewer than half of all twin pregnancies last beyond 37 weeks, and only 1.5% of triplet pregnancies go beyond this stage.  
 
8There are a number of risks involving multiple pregnancies: 
 

• half of all twins are born prematurely (before 37 weeks) and have a low birth weight of under 2.5kg (5.5lb); triplets 
have a 90% chance of being born prematurely and of having a low birth weight  

• the risk of death for premature babies around the week of birth is five times higher for twins and nine times 
higher for triplets than single babies  

 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Single 8 5 10 23 72% 

Twin <3 3 <3 6 19% 

Triplet 0 0 3 3 9% 
 
 
Of the 32 neonatal deaths 6 (19%) of these were twin pregnancies, 2 pregnancies accounting for 4 of the deaths.  Of the 2 
remaining pregnancies the other twins remain alive and well.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

7 NHS: http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/premature-early-labour.aspx#close 
8NHS http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/twins-healthy-multiple-pregnancy.aspx  
 

Page 25 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 57

http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/premature-early-labour.aspx%23close
http://www.nhs.uk/conditions/pregnancy-and-baby/pages/twins-healthy-multiple-pregnancy.aspx


 
 
 
 
 
The below table provides information from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 2011 Census, regarding gender across 
the child population for children aged 0 – 17 years. 
 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Male 21,584 51% 26,061 51% 28,799 51% 76,547 51% 
Female 20,368 49% 24,711 49% 27,758 49% 72,934 49 % 
Total 41,952 10 % 50,772 100 % 56,557 100 % 149,481 100 

 
 
Each of the 3 local authorities’ child population has a slightly higher percentage of males (51%) than females (49%). 
 
 
 

Life Expectancy  
 
9The below table provides information from the ONS release: Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in 
England and Wales, 2010-12 
 
 

 
Male Rank Female Rank 

Bury 78.0 270 81.0 326 

Rochdale 76.8 329 80.8 331 

Oldham 77.1 322 81.1 323 

Greater Manchester 77.3 - 81.3 - 

North West 77.6 - 81.6 - 

England 79.2 - 83.0 - 
 
 
The ranking of local authorities is based on 1 being the highest and 346 being the lowest.  On average, life expectancy at 
birth increased across all local areas in England and Wales by 1.3 years for males and 1.0 year for females between 2006–08 
and 2010–12.  The distribution of life expectancy across England was characterised by a north-south divide, with people in 
local areas in the north generally living shorter lives than those in the south. 
 
10A newborn baby boy could expect to live 78.9 years and a newborn baby girl 82.7 years if mortality rates remain the same 
as they were in the United Kingdom (UK) in 2011 - 2013 throughout their lives.  Life expectancy at birth has increased by 
6.3 hours per day since 1980 - 1982 for males, and by 4.6 hours per day for females in the UK.  The most common age at 
death was 86 for men and 89 for women in 2011-2013.  In 2011 - 2013 a man in the UK aged 65 had an average further 18.3 
years of life remaining and a woman 20.8 years.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

9 ONS - Life expectancy at birth and at age 65 by local areas in England and Wales, 2010-12 
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/publications/re-reference-tables.html?edition=tcm%3A77-326676  
10 ONS - National Life Tables, United Kingdom, 2011-2013 http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/lifetables/national-life-tables/2011-2013/stb-uk-2011-2013.html  
 

11. Gender across the Local Authority 

Page 26 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 58

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/publications/re-reference-tables.html?edition=tcm%3A77-326676
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/lifetables/national-life-tables/2011-2013/stb-uk-2011-2013.html


 
 
 
 
 
 
The data below is based on the 74 child death notifications received from the 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.  Of the 74 child 
death notifications 48 (65%) of these were male and 26 (35%) female.   
 

 
 
 

 
Male Female 

Bury 12 63% 7 37% 

Rochdale 16 73% 6 27% 

Oldham 20 61% 13 39% 

Total 48 65% 26 35% 
 
 
Breaking the figures down into each local authority indicates that in each borough there were a higher number of male 
child deaths.  In Rochdale there was more than double the amount of female child deaths to male. 
 
The difference in the percentage increase of female to male deaths: 
 
Bury  42%  
Rochdale 63%  
Oldham  35% 
 
Reviewing the child’s gender by the year of death provides a more accurate overview when analysing the 
increase/decrease of gender.  The data below is based on the year the death occurred.  Of the 389 child deaths which 
occurred between 2008 – 2013 gender was recorded in 388 cases.  The data for 2014 will be included in the 2014/2015 
CDOP Annual Report. 
 
 

 

Bury Rochdale Oldham 

Female Male Female Male Female Male 

2008 3 6 12 9 8 14 

2009 6 5 8 13 13 20 

2010 8 9 8 12 9 25 

2011 10 10 9 12 11 17 

2012 8 7 9 12 13 11 

2013 5 12 8 20 14 12 

Total 40 49 54 78 68 99 

 
45% 55% 41% 59% 41% 59% 

65% 35% 

Male

Female

12. Gender of Child Deaths 

Page 27 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 59



Reviewing the statistics by the child’s year of death highlights that in Bury in 2009 and 2012 there were more female child 
deaths than male.   There was also a 50/50 spilt between male and female death in 2011.  In 2008 Rochdale saw a higher 
number of female child deaths to male.  In Oldham there was more female deaths in comparison to male in 2012 and 2013.  
It’s important to note that as figures are small that one death could alter these statistics.   
 
From 2008 to 2013 the total figure indicates that overall there have been more child deaths in males (226/58%) than 
females (162/42%). 
 

 
Female Male Total 

2008 23 44% 29 56% 52 

2009 27 42% 38 58% 65 

2010 25 35% 46 65% 71 

2011 30 43% 39 57% 69 

2012 30 50% 30 50% 60 

2013 27 38% 44 62% 71 

Total 162 42% 226 58% 388 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 60



 
 
 
 
 
The below table provides information from the Office of National Statistics 2011 Census, regarding ethnicity for the child 
population of children aged 0 – 17 years. 
 

Ethnicity England 
North 
West 

Greater 
Manchester 

Bury Rochdale Oldham 
CDOP 
Total 

W
hi

te
 

W
hi

te
 

English/Welsh/Scottish/ 
Northern Irish/British 

8,442,330 1,235,092 436,852 33,447 35,099 35,345 103,891 

Irish 33,889 3,574 1,980 123 89 79 291 
Gypsy or Irish Traveller 19,615 1,388 509 18 62 23 103 
Other White 407,479 26,630 12,105 969 780 451 2,200 

White: Total 8,903,313 1,266,684 451,446 34,557 36,030 35,898 106,485 

BM
E 

Co
m

m
un

ity
 

M
ix

ed
/m

ul
tip

le
 

 e
th

ni
c 

gr
ou

p 

White and Black Caribbean 206,044 17,693 11,250 663 445 983 2,091 
White and Black African 85,284 8,951 4,948 226 279 239 744 
White and Asian 171,250 16,080 8,402 617 743 714 2,074 
Other Mixed 127,439 10,219 5,663 283 271 281 835 
Mixed/multiple ethnic  
group: Total 

590,017 52,943 30,263 1,789 1,738 2,217 5,744 

A
si

an
/A

si
an

 
 B

rit
is

h 

Indian 298,950 29,506 13,592 345 279 297 921 
Pakistani 403,323 70,100 47,524 3,442 8,268 8,983 20,693 
Bangladeshi 167,009 19,445 14,451 122 1,855 7,433 9,410 
Chinese 59,108 8,367 4,465 248 251 165 664 
Other Asian 207,903 12,951 8,245 495 1,062 657 2,214 

Asian/Asian British: Total 1,136,293 140369 88,277 4,652 11,715 17,535 33,902 

Bl
ac

k/
A

fr
ic

a
n/

Ca
rib

be
an

/ B
la

ck
  

African 327,168 19,520 15,502 400 850 580 1,830 
Caribbean 119,017 3,476 2,884 77 33 75 185 
Other Black 116,148 6,251 4,877 62 165 113 340 
Black/African/Caribbean/ 
Black British: Total 

562,333 29247 23,263 539 1,048 768 2,355 

O
th

er
 

et
hn

ic
 

 g
ro

up
 Arab 68,840 8,230 5,329 168 118 39 325 

Any other ethnic group 76,164 4,566 3,046 247 123 100 470 
Other ethnic group: Total 145,004 12796 8,375 415 241 139 795 

Total: All Ethnic Groups 11,336,960 1,502,039 601,624 41,952 50,772 56,557 149,281 

 
In all three of the local authorities child population the white community is the most represented with a total of 71.% 
(106,485) of the CDOPs joint population.  The BME community makes up 29% (42,796) of the joint population.  
 
Bury BME   7,395  18 %    
Rochdale BME   14,742  29 % 
Oldham BME   20,659  37 %   
Greater Manchester BME   150,178  25 % 
North West BME   235,355  16 % 
England BME   2,433,647 22 % 
 
Of the three local authorities Oldham has the largest proportion of children from the BME community with 37% (20,659) of 
its child population. In comparison to the national and regional percentages Oldham and Rochdale have a higher BME 
community in comparison to the national average.   Of Bury, Rochdale and Oldham’s BME community the Pakistani 
community is the most prevalent in all three local authorities.    In Bury the Pakistani community makes up 3,442 (47% of 
Bury’s child BME community/8% of Bury’s total child population), Rochdale 8,268 (56% of Rochdale’s child BME 
community/16% of Rochdale’s total child population) and Oldham 8,983 (44% of Oldham’s BME community/16% of 
Oldham’s total child population). 

13. Ethnicity across the Local Authorities 

Page 29 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 61



 
 
 
 
 
The below data is based on the 74 child death notifications received between 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.  Of the 74 child 
death notifications received there was a 50/50 split in the number of child deaths of White/White British ethnicity 37 (50 %) 
and children from the Black Minority Ethnic (BME) community 37 (50%) also.   
 

 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

White/White British 12 63% 14 64% 11 33% 37 50% 

Asian/Asian British <3 11% 7 32% 20 61% 29 39% 

Black/British <3 5% <3 5% 0 0% <3 3% 

Mixed/Other 4 21% 0 0% <3 6% 6 8% 

Total 19 100% 22 100% 33 100% 74 100% 
 
 
The figures below show that overall Oldham also has a much larger percentage of child deaths from the BME community.   
Breaking the figures down into specific ethnicities within each local authority identifies that Oldham has a much higher 
percentage of child deaths from the Pakistani community in comparison to Bury and Rochdale.   
 
Bury   White/White British 12 / 63%  Black Minority Ethnic 7  / 37%   
Rochdale  White/White British 14 / 64%  Black Minority Ethnic 8  / 36% 
Oldham   White/White British 11 / 33%  Black Minority Ethnic 22 / 66% 
 
 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Asian or Asian British: Bangladeshi 0 0% 0 0% 6 18% 6 8% 

Asian or Asian British: Pakistani <3 11% 7 32% 14 42% 23 31% 

Black: African <3 5% <3 5% 0 0% <3 3% 

Mixed: White & Asian 0 0% 0 0% <3 3% <3 1% 

Mixed: White & Black Caribbean <3 11% 0 0% 0 0% <3 3% 

Mixed: White & Black African 0 0% 0 0% <3 3% <3 1% 

White English/Welsh/Scottish/N Irish/British 10 53% 14 64% 10 30% 34 46% 

White: Any Other White background <3 11% 0 0% <3 3% 3 4% 

Other: Any other <3 11% 0 0% 0 0% <3 3% 

Total 19 100% 22 100% 33 100% 74 100% 

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

White/White
British

Asian/Asian British Black/British Mixed/Other

Bury

Rochdale

Oldham

14. Ethnicity of Child Deaths 

Page 30 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 62



When reviewing the White/White British child population (age 0 – 17 years) and comparing this to the number of deaths it 
would appear that this group are underrepresented.   
 
 
Bury:  White/White British Child Population 34,557 / 82%  Deaths   12 / 63 % 
Rochdale: White/White British Child Population 36,030 / 70%  Deaths  14 / 64% 
Oldham: White/White British Child Population 35,898 / 64%  Deaths  11 / 33% 
 
 
Reviewing the percentage of the BME child population in comparison to the number of BME child deaths it would appear 
that this group is overrepresented. 
 
 
Bury:  Black Minority Ethnic Child Population 7,395  / 18%  Deaths  7  / 37% 
Rochdale: Black Minority Ethnic Child Population 14,742 / 29%  Deaths  8  / 36% 
Oldham:  Black Minority Ethnic Child Population 20,659 / 37%  Deaths  22 / 66% 
 
 
Of the 37 BME child deaths across Bury, Rochdale and Oldham, 23 of these were of Pakistani heritage totalling 62% of the 
BME child deaths.  Child deaths of Bangladeshi heritage accounted for 16% (6) of the total BME deaths, making these two 
ethnic groups the most prevalent within the BME community.  Reviewing the nature of the 37 BME deaths highlights: 
 

• the largest proportion of deaths occurred in children under the age of 1 totalling 27 / 73% (17, 0–28 days and 10,  
29–364 days) 

• 27 (73%) children were resident in quintile 1 (most deprived area) and  
• the CDOP categorised consanguinity as a contributing factor in that in 9 (24%) of the child deaths (see 

consanguinity section for more information) 
 

 
Comparing statistics from previous annual reports highlights, in cases where ethnicity was recorded there was a higher 
percentage of child deaths within the BME community in 2009/10.  From 2010/11 onwards there was a higher percentage 
of deaths in children of White/White British ethnicity.  
 
 

 White/White British BME community 

2013/14 37 50% 37 50% 
2012/13 37 58% 27 42% 
2011/12 43 54% 37 46% 
2010/11 40 59% 28 41% 
2009/10 20 43% 26 57% 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 63



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Genetics and Consanguinity  
 
11Consanguinity refers to a relationship in which a couple are 'blood' relatives, i.e. they share a common ancestor.  An 
example is a couple who are first cousins.  Consanguinity is common in many cultures and most prevalent in the Asian 
community.  Consanguinity is important because it increases the risk of genetic disorders called autosomal recessive 
disorders. 
 
These are disorders which only occur if a child has a change (known as a mutation) in both copies of a particular gene.  
Because genes come in pairs it often doesn't matter if there one changed copy because the other copy is normal and can 
compensate for the changed gene.  A parent with one changed copy is therefore called a 'healthy carrier'.  For parent to 
have an autosomal recessive disorder he/she must have two changed copies of a particular gene.  
 
For example, an individual with cystic fibrosis (a common autosomal recessive disorder in Europe) has two changed copies 
of the cystic fibrosis gene.  Because one copy of each gene comes from Mother and one from Father, both parents of an 
individual with an autosomal recessive condition must have at least one changed copy of the gene causing the disorder. 
Therefore if two carriers have a child together there is a risk that their child could be affected by that disorder. 
 
Parents, who are both healthy carriers of, for example cystic fibrosis, there are several possibilities for each of their 
children: 
 

• A 1 in 4 (25%) chance that the child could be affected by cystic fibrosis. 
• A 1 in 2 (50%) chance that the child could be a healthy carrier. 
• A 1 in 4 (25%) chance that the child could have 2 normal copies of the cystic fibrosis gene and therefore would not 

be a carrier or affected. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
With every pregnancy this chance stays the same, a bit like tossing a coin or throwing a dice.  To put things into context 
unrelated parents have a risk of about 2 in 100 (2%) of having a child with a severe/lethal abnormality.  Parents who are 
first cousins have an additional risk of about 3 in 100 (3%), giving them a total risk of about 5 in 100 (5%).  Parents who are 
first cousins once removed or 2nd cousins have an additional risk of about 1 in 100 (1%) and therefore a total risk of about 3 
in 100 (3%). 
 

11 http://www.scotgen.org.uk/documents/Consanguinity.pdf  

Carrier Carrier 

Not Affected  Carrier Carrier Affected  

= Altered Gene 

15. Consanguinity 

Page 32 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 64

http://www.scotgen.org.uk/documents/Consanguinity.pdf


This means that when there is no family history of a recessive disorder, most children of first cousins and more distant 
relatives will be healthy (95% for first cousins, and 97% for first cousins once removed and second cousins).  However, 
certain couples may be more closely related if there is a family tradition of cousin marriages going back generations. In this 
situation, the couple will have a higher risk of having a child with problems. 
 
About half or 50% of these severe abnormalities are thought to be detectable by specialised ultrasound scanning at around 
18 weeks of pregnancy. These scans can be easily arranged by a midwife, genetics department or GP. 
 
 
 

Consanguinity and Child Deaths 
 
Of the 74 child death notifications in 2013/14 consanguinity was recorded in 56 (76%) of the cases.  In 41 cases parents 
stated that they were not related.  Of the 18 cases where parent’s relationship was recorded as not known in 13 of the 
deaths consanguinity would not have been a contributing factor linked to the cause of death.  Although there were 5 cases 
where consanguinity was not known these children died due to conditions such as End Stage Cystic Fibrosis, Battens 
Disease, Sandhoff's Syndrome and Multiple Congenital Abnormalities which are potentially inherited conditions.  
 
Of the 56 child deaths where consanguinity was recorded 15 families self-declared that they were in a consanguineous 
relationship.  Of the 15 cases where it was recorded that Mother and Father were related 10 of these deaths were directly 
linked to parents being first cousins making up 14% of the total 74 deaths in 2013/14.   
 

• All 10 of the children were of Pakistani heritage.  
• Of the total 74 child deaths 37 (50%) of these were from the BME community.  
• Of the 37 BME deaths, consanguinity was relevant and directly linked to 27% (10) of the child deaths.  
• 5 of the 10 children (50%) died before the age of 5.   
• The highest number of deaths linked to consanguinity occurred in Oldham (4/40%) and Rochdale (4/40%).   
• 8 of the 10 families lived within areas of deprivation (quintile 1 and 2). 
• There was a 50/50 split in gender with 5 male and 5 female deaths 

 
 
In 5 of the 10 families, siblings have also been diagnosed with the same inherited life limiting condition and/or there has 
been a previous death of a sibling.  Some of these inherited conditions include: 
 

• Canavan's disease 
• Hypoplastic cerebellum, Tracheobronchomalacia 
• Epidermolysis Bullosa (treated) 
• Metachronic Leucodystrophy 
• Battens Disease 
• Neuro degenerative disorder (type undefined) 
• I-Cell Disease 
• Neurodegenerative disorder - severe scoliosis 
• Multiple Congenital Anomalies 

 
In many of the consanguineous deaths the final event contributing to the death has been infection.  The child’s underlying 
congenital abnormality makes them more vulnerable and susceptible to forms of infection such as Bronchopneumonia 
and Sepsis.  Once the child has contracted a form of infection, due to the complexity of some of the above inherited 
conditions the child’s immune system can be compromised making it much harder for the body to fight off the infection 
and recover ultimately contributing to the death.  
 
 

Consanguinity and the Associated Health Risks 
 
Following the CDOP Annual Report and the links between cousin marriage and the increased risk of autosomal recessive 
disorders, in 2011 the Oldham Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) created the Oldham Consanguinity Task and 
Finish Group.  The group was established to review data and look at raising awareness of the associated health risks in the 
community. 
 

Page 33 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 65



In June 2012 Oldham LSCB held a training event for medical professionals to encourage staff to raise awareness of the 
potential health risks for families to make informed decisions.  It was highlighted that parents who are in a 
relationship/married to a relative can seek further advice from their GP who may then refer them onto St Mary’s Genetic 
Service for genetic counselling.  The information was well received and good feedback obtained from attendees.   
 
The task group looked at various methods of communication to raise awareness with the public.  Discussions were held 
with Public Health to take the lead on consanguinity and a report detailing the next steps forward was presented to the 
LSCB and Health and Wellbeing Board.  The report aims to develop a preventative approach to reduce the numbers of 
infant deaths and severely disabled children resulting from inherited conditions.  Its felt good practice to raise awareness 
around the highly sensitive issue of consanguineous marriages and making families aware of the associated health risks to 
ensure that they have received information to make informed decisions.  
 
At present the GP/hospital may refer a family to Saint Mary’s Genetic Counselling Service where a genetics counsellor 
works one day a week in Oldham.  However they do not have the capacity to undertake any preventative work or general 
awareness raising within the community.  
 
Oldham LSCBs consanguinity report was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board to look at the next steps forward to 
increase capacity and continue working with families who are most at risk and to raise awareness within the community by 
providing information in college settings regarding the associated health risks. 
 
Oldham LSCB wishes to implement the following proposal:  
 

1. Targeted work to raise awareness among communities at risk.  This needs to result in people understanding that, 
if there is a family history which raises concerns, they should seek specialist advice.  The aim is to ensure that 
members of the public understand the associated health risks linked to consanguineous relationships to make 
informed decisions before considering marriage 

 
2. Raising awareness amongst front-line health professionals about the issue enabling them to contribute to the 

awareness raising, provide the appropriate information and initiate referrals where needed 
 
3. Increasing the capacity of the Saint Mary’s service to provide genetic counselling, and to undertake community 

outreach work. 
 
Calculating the cost implications and impact on the health service is difficult to estimate as every condition is varies and 
requires various sources of treatment and care depending on the child’s diagnosis, the severity of their condition and the 
life expectancy of the child.   
 
At present Oldham Public Health have taken the lead and the report is to be presented to the Integrated Commissioning 
Partnerships (ICP) to discuss resources to fund and employ a specialist geneticist post who can carry out the proposal.  
 
 

How does Consanguinity affect the Population? 
 
Although the CDOP reviews the number of child deaths across Bury, Rochdale and Oldham aged 0 – 17 years, the panel 
does not collate data relating to terminations of pregnancy, stillbirths and miscarriages.  Whilst the Oldham Consanguinity 
Task Group reviewed the number of child deaths linked to consanguinity, the group also identified the increased risk of 
stillbirths, miscarriages and children with disabilities.    
 
In November 2014 Bury, Rochdale and Oldham Children with Disabilities Team submitted statistics to the CDOP in 
relation to the ethnicity of children currently open to the service. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 66



Ethnicity Oldham Bury Rochdale Total 

White English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British 114 54% 152 69% 247 64% 513 63% 

White: Any Other White background                                         6 3% 3 1% 4 1% 13 2% 
Mixed/multiple 
 ethnic group 

White and Black Caribbean 4 2% <3 1% 0 0% 6 1% 

White and Black African 0 0% 0 0% <3 0% <3 0% 

White and Asian <3 0% 5 2% 8 2% 14 2% 

Other Mixed/Mixed Not Known 6 3% <3 1% 6 2% 14 2% 
Asian/Asian 
British 

Indian <3 1% <3 1% 0 0% 4 0% 

Pakistani 58 27% 29 13% 69 18% 156 19% 

Bangladeshi 17 8% 0 0% 6 2% 23 3% 

Chinese 0 0% <3 0% 0 0% <3 0% 

Other Asian 0 0% 10 5% 18 5% 28 3% 
Black/African/ 
Caribbean/  
Black British 

African 0 0% <3 1% 7 2% 9 1% 

Caribbean 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 0 0% 

Other Black 0 0% 7 3% <3 1% 9 1% 
Other ethnic 
group 

Any other ethnic group 0 0% 4 2% 14 4% 18 2% 

 Not Known 4 2% <3 1% 3 1% 9 1% 

Total 212 100% 221 100% 385 100% 818 100 

 
 

Bury 
Bury’s child population is made up of 82% White/White British and 18% Black Minority Ethnic.  Of the three local 
authorities Bury’s statistics show that they have the fewest number of children with disabilities from the BME community.  
This is expected when comparing the child population across the three boroughs, with Bury having the smallest 
percentage of children from the BME community. Reviewing Bury’s statistics found that children with disabilities from the 
BME community were overrepresented with 30% (66) in comparison to the BME child population of 18%. 
 

Child Population     Child with Disabilities 
White/White British 82%   White/White British  155 70%  
Black Minority Ethnic 18%   Black Minority Ethnic  66 30% 

 
In Bury the most prevalent ethnic group within the BME child population are children from the Pakistani community 
(3,442).  It would appear that children of Pakistani heritage who represent 8% (3,442) of the child population are 
overrepresented with 13% (58) of children with disabilities.  
 
 
 

Rochdale  
Rochdale’s child population is made up of 71% White/White British and 29% Black Minority Ethnic.  Reviewing Rochdale’s 
statistics found that children with disabilities from the BME community were overrepresented with 35% (134) in 
comparison to the BME child population of 29%.  
 

Child Population     Child with Disabilities 
White/White British  71%  White/White British  251 65%  
Black Minority Ethnic  29%  Black Minority Ethnic  134 35% 

 
In Rochdale the most prevalent ethnic group within the BME child population are children from the Pakistani community 
(8,268).  It would appear that children of Pakistani heritage who represent 16% (8,268) of the child population are slightly 
overrepresented with 18% (69) of children with disabilities.  
 
 

Page 35 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 67



Oldham  
Oldham’s child population is made up of 63% White/White British and 37% Black Minority Ethnic.  Reviewing Oldham’s 
statistics found that children with disabilities from the BME community were overrepresented with 43% (92) in 
comparison to the BME child population of 37%.  
 

Child Population     Child with Disabilities 
White/White British 63%   White/White British  120 57% 
Black Minority Ethnic 37%   Black Minority Ethnic  92 43% 

 
In Oldham the two most prevalent ethnic groups within the BME child population are Pakistani (8,983) and Bangladeshi 
(7,433).  Children of Bangladeshi heritage represent 13% of the child population and are underrepresented with 8% (17) of 
children with disabilities.  Children of Pakistani heritage who represent 16% (8983) of the child population are 
overrepresented with 27% (58) of children with disabilities. Over the years CDOP has identified that consanguineous 
relationships are mostly practiced within the South Asian community and most common amongst families of Pakistani 
heritage.   
 
 

Consanguinity and Children with Disabilities 
 

 
 
 
Whilst the Children with Disabilities Team do not record whether parents are related reviewing the 10 deaths were 
consanguinity was a contributing factor and that all of these children were of Pakistani heritage it would seem that there is 
a link between consanguinity and children with disabilities.   
 
Combining the 3 local authorities BME children with disabilities figures indicates that children of Pakistani heritage are 
largely represented.  As consanguinity is not recorded in information held by the Children with Disabilities Team it’s 
difficult to identify which families are consanguineous and how this may have contributed to the child’s disability.  The 
statistics can be used to provide a better understanding and explanation of why children from the BME community are 
overrepresented.  A common theme across the three local authorities is that children with disabilities of Pakistani heritage 
are the most prevalent ethnic group within the BME community.  The figures suggest that there is a link between 
consanguinity and children with disabilities given those consanguineous relationships and cousin marriage is most 
practiced within the Pakistani community.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 36 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 68



 
 
 
 
 
12The Department for Communities and Local Government produced a 2010 release update of the English indices of 
deprivation 2007.  The English indices of deprivation measure relative levels of deprivation in small areas of England called 
‘lower layer super output areas’.  The indices of deprivation are currently being updated for publication in summer 2015. 
 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation 2010 contains seven domains of deprivation: 
 

• Income deprivation 
• Employment deprivation 
• Health deprivation and disability 
• Education, skills and training deprivation 
• Barriers to housing and services 
• Living environment deprivation 
• Crime 

 
The level of deprivation is measured taking into account the above 7 areas and indicates where each boroughs sits of the 
total 326 local authorities.   
 

Most Deprived   Rochdale  29/326 
Oldham  46/326 

Least Deprived  Bury  119/326 
 

 
 

Bury 
13The health of people in Bury is varied compared with the England average. Deprivation is lower than average, however 
about 6,800 children live in poverty.    
 
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average.  Life expectancy is 10.8 years lower for men 
and 8.0 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Bury than in the least deprived areas.  Over the last 10 years, 
all cause mortality rates have fallen. The early death rate from heart disease and stroke has fallen and is worse than the 
England average. 
 
In Year 6, 18.9% of children are classified as obese. Levels of alcohol-specific hospital stays among those worse than the 
England average. The level of GCSE under 18, breast feeding and smoking in pregnancy are attainment is better than the 
England average. 
 
The estimated level of adult obesity is better than the England average. Rates of smoking related deaths and hospital 
stays for alcohol related harm are worse than the England average. Rates of sexually transmitted infections and road 
injuries and deaths are better than the England average. 
 
 

Rochdale 
The health of people in Rochdale is generally worse than the England average. Deprivation is higher than average and 
about 12,000 children live in poverty. 
 
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average.  Life expectancy is 11.6 years lower for men 
and 9.9 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Rochdale than in the least deprived areas.  Over the last 10 
years, all cause mortality rates have fallen. The early death rate from heart disease and stroke has fallen and is worse than 
the England average. 
 

12 English indices of deprivation 2010  https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2010 
13 2013 Public Health Profiles http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES  

16. Levels of Deprivation 

Page 37 of 50 
 

                                                 

Document Pack Page 69

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2010
http://www.apho.org.uk/default.aspx?QN=P_HEALTH_PROFILES


In Year 6, 21.5% of children are classified as obese, worse than the average for England. Levels of teenage stays among 
those under 18, breast feeding and pregnancy, GCSE attainment, alcohol-specific hospital smoking in pregnancy are worse 
than the England average. 
 
Estimated levels of adult 'healthy eating' and smoking are worse than the England average. Rates of smoking related 
deaths and hospital stays for alcohol related harm are worse than the England average. Rates of sexually transmitted 
infections and road injuries and deaths are better than the England average. 
 
 

Oldham 
The health of people in Oldham is generally worse than the England average. Deprivation is higher than average and about 
13,500 children live in poverty.  
 
Life expectancy for both men and women is lower than the England average. Life expectancy is 11.1 years lower for men 
and 10.3 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of Oldham than in the least deprived areas.  Over the last 10 
years, all cause mortality rates have fallen. Early death rates from cancer and from heart disease and stroke have fallen but 
remain worse than the England average. 
 
In Year 6, 20.2% of children are classified as obese. Levels of teenage pregnancy, GCSE attainment, breast feeding and 
smoking in pregnancy are worse alcohol-specific hospital stays among those under 18, than the England average. 
 
Estimated levels of adult 'healthy eating', smoking, physical activity and obesity are worse than the England average. 
Rates of smoking related deaths and hospital stays for alcohol related harm are worse than the England average. Rates of 
sexually transmitted infections and road injuries and deaths are better than the England average. The rates of statutory 
homelessness and incidence of malignant melanoma are better than average. 
 
 
 

Quintiles 
 
Each area within the local authorities is split into one of the five quintiles to determine the level of deprivation ranging 
from Quintile 1 as most deprived and Quintile 5 as the least deprived.  Quintiles are based on statistical value of a data set 
that represents 20% of a given population.  
 
The first quartile represents the lowest fifth of the data (1-20%); the second quartile represents the second fifth (21% - 
40%) etc.  The quintiles are broken down into: 
 
 
Quintile 1: Most deprived 
 
Quintile 2:  2nd Most Deprived 
 
Quintile 3:  Mid Deprived 
 
Quintile 4:  2nd Least deprived 
 
Quintile 5:  Least deprived 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 70



The below data is based on the 74 child death notifications received between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014.   
 

 

 
Bury Rochdale Oldham Total 

Quintile 1 (Most Deprived) 4 21% 12 55% 25 76% 41 55% 

Quintile 2 5 26% 3 14% <3 6% 10 14% 

Quintile 3 (Mid Deprived) 8 42% 5 23% <3 6% 15 20% 

Quintile 4 <3 5% 0 0% <3 6% 3 4% 

Quintile 5 (Least Deprived) <3 5% <3 9% <3 6% 5 7% 

Total 19 100% 22 100% 33 100% 74 100% 
 
 
Of the 74 child death notifications received the largest number of deaths occurred where the child/family resided in areas 
of deprivation (quintile 1 and 2) totalling 69% (51) of the total deaths.  Of these 51 child deaths in quintiles 1 and 2 a large 
percentage of deaths occurred in: 
 
18 / 35%  Neonates    
11 / 22%  Death of a life limiting condition   
8 / 17%  Sudden and Unexpected Death in Infancy  
 
 

Bury 
Unlike Oldham and Rochdale, Bury received the largest number of child deaths in quintile 3 (mid deprived) with 8 (42%) of 
the 19 deaths.  Of the 8 deaths in quintile 3, there was a 50/50 split between male and female deaths.   62% (5) of the 
children were of White English/Welsh/Scottish/N Irish/British ethnicity and the remaining 38% (3) were from the BME 
community. Of the 8 deaths in quintile 3 neonatal deaths were the most represented with 63% (5).  
 
Of the total 19 Bury child deaths reported to CDOP in 2013/14 the largest number of deaths occurred in the ward Sedgley 
(7 / 37%). 
 
 

Rochdale  
In Rochdale the largest number of deaths occurred in quintile 1 with 12 (55%) of the 22 deaths.  Of the 12 deaths in quintile 
1, 50% (6) of children were of White English/Welsh/Scottish/N Irish/British ethnicity and 42% (5) from the Asian Pakistani 
community.  Data shows that there was a much higher percentage of male deaths (11 / 92%) to female (1 / 8%) 
Of the 12 deaths in quintile 1 neonatal deaths (4 / 33%) and deaths due to a life limiting condition (4 / 33%) were the most 
represented. 
 
Of the 22 Rochdale child deaths reported to CDOP in 2013/14the largest number of death occurred in the wards Healy (3 / 
14%) and Kingsway (3 / 14%). 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Bury Rochdale Oldham

Quintile 1

Quintile 2

Quintile 3

Quintile 4

Quintile 5

Page 39 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 71



 

Oldham 
In Oldham the largest number of deaths occurred in quintile 1 with 25 (76%) of the 33 deaths.  Of the 25 deaths in quintile 
1, the largest number of deaths with 48% (12) were children of Pakistani heritage, 24% (6) White/White British and 20% (5) 
Bangladeshi.  Overall the BME community was largely represented in child deaths within quintile 1 with 76% (19) of 
deaths.  Of the 25 deaths 56% (14) were male and 44% (11) female.   
 
Of the total 33 Oldham child deaths reported to CDOP in 2013/14 the largest number of deaths occurred in the ward 
Werneth (8 / 24%).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 72



 
 
 
 
 
Sudden Unexpected Deaths in Infancy (SUDI) is the medical term used to describe the sudden and unexpected death of a 
baby or toddler that is initially unexplained.  Some sudden and unexpected infant deaths can be explained by the post-
mortem examination revealing, for example, an unforeseen infection or metabolic disorder.   Deaths that remain 
unexplained after the post mortem and the cause of death cannot be established are categorised as SUDIs. 
 
The CDOP initially classifies the case as a SUDI pending the outcome of the Coroner’s investigation.  If the cause of death 
is established from the post mortem and it’s identified that the child died, for example, due to infection, the case would no 
longer meet SUDI criteria.  Where it remains that the cause of death is unascertained, these cases are categorised as SUDI.  
 
From the 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014 the CDOP was notified of 7 potential SUDI child deaths. Following the conclusion 
of a post mortem examination and/or inquest the Pathologist and the Coroner has ascertained the cause of death as 
Unascertained/Natural Causes (of unascertained origin) for 5 of the SUDI deaths. 
 
Of the 5 confirmed SUDI deaths co-sleeping on a sofa or in a parental bed was identified in 3 of the cases where 
overheating was documented as a risk factor.  As numbers are small a breakdown of SUDI deaths year on year provides a 
more detailed overview of the emerging trends. 
 
 
 

Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy (SUDI) Year on Year  
 
Of the child deaths referred to the CDOP between April 2008 and March 2014 the panel categorised and closed 28 cases as 
SUDI.  There is currently an additional 4 potential SUDI cases that are awaiting a cause of death from the Coroner’s Office 
to confirm whether the death was a SUDI or due to an underlying medical condition or infection. The 28 cases are made up 
of: 
 
Bury    9  32% 
Oldham   9 32% 
Rochdale   10 36% 
Total  28 
 
 
Reviewing the cases by the child’s year of death provides an overview of the increase/decrease in the number of SUDI 
deaths year on year.   
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

2008 6 

2009 5 

2010 6 

2011 5 

2012 <3 

2013 4 

Total 28 

17.  Sudden Unexpected Death in Infancy (SUDI) 

 

Page 41 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 73



Reviewing the cases highlighted: 
• 12 (43%) of the deaths were female and the remaining 16 (57%) were male  
• Of the 28 SUDI deaths ethnicity was recorded in 27 of the cases.  20 (74%) deaths were of the ethnicity 

White/White British and 7 (26%)  from the BME community  
• 6 (21%) deaths occurred aged 0 – 28 days of life, 21 (75%) deaths occurred aged 29 – 364 days and 1 (4%) death 

aged 1 – 4 years 
• 11 (39%) of the children were resident in quintile 1 (most deprived area), 5 (18%) in quintile 2 (second most 

deprived area), 7 (25%) in quintile 3 and 4 (14%) in quintile 4.  The largest number of deaths occurred where the 
child was resident in a deprived area with 57% (16) of the deaths. 

• Mothers smoking status was recorded in 23 of the 28 cases.  It was recorded that Mother smoked in 13 (57%) of 
the cases and 10 (43%) Mothers stated that they did not smoke. 

• Co-sleeping had taken place with parents and/or siblings in bed or on a sofa in 17 (61%) of the deaths. 
• It was noted in 9 (32%) of the cases that alcohol was consumed by parents on the evening/morning of death and 

that co-sleeping was also a factor in these 9 cases.  
• The child’s gestation was recorded in 27 of the 28 SUDI deaths.  Of the 27 deaths where gestation was record 8 

(30%) of the babies were born premature (<37 weeks gestation).  
• Birth weight was recorded in 25 of the 28 SUDI deaths.  OF these 25 cases the child’s birth weight was recorded as 

low for 6 (25%) of the children.  
 
Of the 28 SUDI cases the CDOP categorised 19 (68%) deaths as having modifiable factors. This is where the panel have 
identified one or more factors, in any domain, which may have contributed to the death of the child and which, by means 
of locally or nationally achievable interventions, could be modified to reduce the risk of future child deaths.  Of the 19 
cases where modifiable factors were identified one or more of the following risk factors were highlighted: 
 

• Co-sleeping (with parents and/or other siblings in bed or on a sofa) 
• Ingestion of illegal substances such as cannabis 
• Prescribed medication such as anti-depressants 
• Smoking during pregnancy 
• Parental smoking within the family home 
• Overheating/over wrapping 
• Alcohol consumption on the evening or morning of the event 
• Overcrowding housing arrangements 
• Poor home conditions an environment  
• Chaotic lifestyles 
• Lack of uptake to antenatal care/concealed pregnancy 
• Lack of engagement with services such health services as GP and Health Visitors 
• Late immunisations 

 
Year on year the CDOPs across the UK review the number of SUDI cases and the contributing risk factors identified.   In 
previous years the CDOP annual report has requested information regarding resources provided to parents a various 
stages of pregnancy and birth such as: 

• Antenatally  
• Birth (on the ward) 
• Discharge and 
• Home Visits 

 
The Pennine Acute Hospital developed the information guide ‘Putting your baby down to sleep safely’ which advises that 
parents: 
 
Never sleep with your baby if either you or your partner 

• has taken any legal or illegal drugs 
• has been drinking alcohol 
• is a smoker 

or if 
• your baby was born small or premature 

 
Do not put yourself, or allow others to be, in a position where there is a possibility of dozing off with the baby on a sofa or 
armchair, as this is one of the highest risk factors for sudden infant death. 

Page 42 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 74



 
The Pennine Acute Hospital policy states that the leaflet should be provided to every new Mother and discussed on the 
labour ward.  Information is provided on the postnatal ward where notes are stamped, dated and signed to record the 
discussion held.  The message is also reinforced at discharge and at the first home visit from the community midwife.  An 
internal audit in Pennine Acute identified some gaps and that the service was not always fully compliant.  Further work is 
required to ensure that all Mothers receive the correct information regarding safe sleeping arrangements to improve 
consistency and the Pennine Acute are in the process of updating action plans to achieve this. 
 
Information regarding SUDI is also contained in the Personal Child Health Record (PCHR) also known as “the red book”.  
The booklet contains information for parents highlighting safe sleeping arrangement do’s and don’ts stating that ‘The 
safest place for your baby to sleep is on their back in a cot or a crib in the room with you for the first six months’.  The Safe 
Sleeping Assessment and Action Plan are completed by the midwife and contain questions regarding breastfeeding, safe 
sleeping, smoking and alcohol consumption.  Any identified risk factors are highlighted and actions produced with 
timescales to address any concerns. 
 
 

Safe Sleeping Information 
 
The Lullaby Trust provides useful information such as videos, leaflets and quick tips for safer sleep: 
 
  

         Things to do 
 

• Always place your baby on their back to sleep 
• Keep your baby smoke free during pregnancy and 

after birth 
• Place your baby to sleep in a separate cot or 

Moses basket in the same room as you for the first 
6 months 

• Breastfeed your baby, if you can 
• Use a firm, flat, waterproof mattress in good 

condition 

         Things to avoid 
 

• Never sleep on a sofa or in an armchair with your 
baby 

• Don’t sleep in the same bed as your baby if you 
smoke, drink or take drugs or are extremely tired, 
if your baby was born prematurely or was of low 
birth-weight 

• Avoid letting your baby get too hot 
• Don’t cover your baby’s face or head while 

sleeping or use loose bedding 
 
 
The Lullaby Trust has developed the Safe Sleep for Babies: A Guide for Parents leaflet which provides a more detailed 
overview of how parents can reduce the risk of SUDI. 
 
Parents who have suffered a sudden and unexpected death of a baby often feel anxious in future pregnancies. The Lullaby 
Trust has been working with the NHS to run a national health-visitor led service for bereaved parents, Care of Next Infant 
(CONI) programme, which supports families before and after the birth of their new baby. CONI is run in hospitals and 
community health centres and involves health visitors, midwives, paediatricians and GPs. 
 
Through CONI, parents can: 

• receive regular home visits by their health visitor, so they can talk freely about any worries and seek advice 
• keep a symptom diary to record their baby’s health, which they can then discuss with their health visitor 
• use the Baby Check booklet to help decide when their baby should be examined by a doctor 
• monitor their baby's growth with a weight chart and weighing scales, to detect changes quickly 
• borrow apnoea (breathing) monitors which pick up movements as the baby breathes, and will ring an alarm if 

movements stop for longer than 20 seconds 
• receive training on resuscitation 
• receive a room thermometer and guidance on bedding and clothing 

 
The CONI scheme is offered to parents across Bury, Rochdale and Oldham who present in pregnancy following a previous 
SUDI child death or neonatal death.  The referral to CONI is usually completed by the Midwife or Health Visitor during the 
antenatal assessment once Mother reaches 28 weeks gestation.  The scheme offers a more intense level of service to 
provide parents with additional support and reassurance during pregnancy.  The core elements of the programme include 
regular contacts with a health visitor, symptom diaries, weight charts and apnoea (movement) monitors. 
 

Page 43 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 75

http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/safer-sleep
http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/document.doc?id=295
http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/document.doc?id=332
http://www.lullabytrust.org.uk/document.doc?id=332


 
 
 
 
 
From April 2008 to March 2014 there have been 7 child deaths reported to CDOP due to suicide.   
 

• The children were aged between 13 – 17 years of age 
• 3 of the deaths occurred in 2012  
• 5 of the children died as a result of hanging at the parental home  
• The largest number of deaths occurred in Bury (3) and Rochdale (3) 
• 5 children were male 
• Ethnicity was recorded in 6 of the cases, 5 of which were recorded as White/British 
• 3 children were resident in quintiles 1 and 2 (most deprived) and 3 children resident in quintiles 4 and 5 (least 

deprived. 
 
The CDOP continues to monitor the number of suicides and works with neighbouring Greater Manchester CDOPs to 
investigate emerging themes.  The Greater Manchester Safeguarding Partnership has requested statistics from the 4 
CDOPs in relation to child deaths following apparent suicide.  This will provide the CDOPs with a much larger footprint to 
review and highlight any trends to potentially undertake collaborative working to reduce the number of suicides.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18.  Suicides 

Page 44 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
There have been a small number of child deaths following the ingestion of a battery and a further 5 children who have 
suffered ‘life-changing’ injuries in Greater Manchester in the last 18 months.   The lithium batteries are common in many 
homes, and are found in many items including smartphones, key cards, children’s games, watches, toys and even 
children’s books.  
 
If swallowed, the batteries can cause severe internal bleeding which is very difficult to treat.  Following the ingestion of a 
battery the child may seem fine at first and may not show any signs of choking or poisoning.  In some cases, they may 
develop cold or flu-like symptoms developing a fever and/or vomiting.  Button batteries are also dangerous if children put 
them into their noses and ears. 
 
The Child Accident and Prevention Trust (CAPT) have drawn attention to the danger posed by button batteries and are 
urging practitioners to get the warning out to as many parents and carers as possible.  CAPT have also developed leaflets 
and posters highlighting the dangers of button batteries and are available via the CAPT website.  The media has also 
raised awareness of the dangers of button batteries regionally and nationally via BBC News and documented on TV 
programmes The One Show. 
 
At a recent Inquest Hearing following the death of a child who ingested a button battery, the Coroner Simon Nelson is in 
the process of writing to the Department of Health to raise awareness of the harm batteries can cause to children if 
swallowed stating "I believe that preventions and precautions need to be extended to include child-resistant packaging for 
batteries.” 
 
Although the CDOP has received a very small number of child deaths due the ingestion of hazardous substances the panel 
has identified this as a risk within the home and has undertaken awareness raising to help prevent future deaths. In 
October 2014 the CDOP distributed The Royal Society for Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) poster to children centres 
across Bury, Rochdale and Oldham and asked that they be displayed within the centres to raise awareness amongst staff 
and parents. .  The RoSPA post highlights the dangers of nappy sacks, batteries, liquitabs and blind cords. 
 
 
 
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

19.  Ingestion of Hazardous Substances 

Page 45 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 77

http://capt.org.uk/safety-advice/keeping-children-safe-button-batteries
http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-manchester-29610570
http://www.rospa.com/


Distributers of liquitabs such as Ariel have also been proactive in promoting the safety message ‘Keep liquitabs out of 
children’s reach and sight’ which is also publicised through social media websites.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
In November 2014 the Oldham Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO) held a 2 safeguarding training events for nearly 
80 child minders and nursery workers in Oldham.  The CDOP Officer attended and provided information and relevant 
statistics regarding the most vulnerable age group which is child deaths under the age of one.  Some of the specific 
dangers highlighted included: 
 

• Nappy sacks 
• Cord blinds 
• Liquitabs 
• Batteries 
• Pro-longed sleeping in car seats 
• Co-Sleeping/Safe Sleeping and  

 
Staff were provided with a link to the RoSPA poster and asked to display the poster in their nursery to help raise 
awareness. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 78



 
 
 
 
 
The 2012/2013 CDOP Annual Report produced 3 recommendations highlighting the following:  
 
 

1. Investigating the disproportionate number of BME deaths  
The 2011/12 CDOP Annual Report highlighted the disproportionate number of child deaths within the BME community in 
comparison to the BME child population.  This is a continuing trend and is also highlighted in the 2012/13 data set.   
 
Of the Greater Manchester child population, the BME community is made up of 25% in comparison Oldham and Rochdale 
have a higher percentage of children in this community.  Whilst Rochdale’s BME child population is made up of 29%, 40.7% 
of the deaths were accounted for.  In Oldham there were more deaths from the BME community than those of 
White/British.  Oldham’s BME child population is made up of 36.5% in comparison to the 54.5% of deaths. 
 
Of the total 65 child deaths 26 (41.2%) of these were from the BME community.  Of the 26 BME deaths, consanguinity was 
relevant and directly linked to 23.1% (6) of the child deaths.   
 
When reviewing the number of child deaths who resided in areas of deprivation it would appear that a large percentage of 
these children were from the BME community.  Of the 49 deaths in areas of deprivation (quintile 1 and 2), 53.1% (26) of 
these were made up of children from BME communities.  
 
Oldham and Rochdale should conduct further analysis to review the overrepresented BME deaths and link information 
regarding areas of deprivation to identify any emerging themes.   
 
 

2013/14 Update 
Year on year the CDOP has highlighted an ongoing trend when comparing the number of BME child deaths to the BME 
child population.  The CDOP continues to monitor and investigate the overrepresentation of child deaths within the BME 
community.  This year the report suggested a link between BME child deaths, BME children with disabilities, 
consanguineous relationships and families that live in areas of deprivation.   
 
Of the 37 BME child deaths referred to CDOP in 2013/14 it was identified that 10 (27%) of these deaths were directly linked 
to consanguinity, all of which are of Pakistani heritage thus accounting for a large proportion of the BME child deaths.  
Reviewing the ethnicity of the total 74 child deaths notifications in 2013/14 indicates that consanguinity accounted for 14% 
(10) of the overall deaths.   
 
There is a clear link between consanguinity and the disproportionate number of children with disabilities and child deaths 
from the BME community.  The Oldham Consanguinity Task Group has reviewed the existing processes in place to support 
the BME community via Saint Mary’s Genetic Counselling and the support offered to families who are deemed most as 
risk. Oldham wishes to extend the services and information provided to the community and suggested a two strand 
approach 
 

1. Reactive approach - To continue working with families that are at risk and increase the capacity by 
employing a specialist geneticist to undertake work in the community 

2. Proactive approach – To raise awareness within educational settings to highlight the associated 
health risks of consanguineous relationships/marriages to ensure that the community has received 
appropriate information to make an informed decision. 

 
See Recommendation 3 ‘Raising awareness of consanguinity and the associated health risks’ for further information 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

20. Recommendations 

Page 47 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 79



2. Co-ordinating a consistent safe Sleeping message 
There have been numerous public campaigns in neighbouring local authorities and national awareness raising of the 
potential risks of co-sleeping.  Whilst it appears that the number of SUDI deaths has reduced there needs to be a clear and 
consistent message provided to parents. 
 
Health settings across Greater Manchester need to ensure consistency, to agree on a leaflet and that the same information 
is provided to all parents, prior to discharge, to reinforce the message that ‘The safest place for your baby to sleep is on 
their back in a cot or a crib in the room with you for the first six months’.  
 
In the 21 SUDI cases where Mothers smoking status was recorded, 57.1% (12) of Mothers stated that they smoked.  There 
needs to be an agreed consistent message to advise parents that they should never sleep with their baby if they or their 
partner: 
• has taken any legal or illegal drugs 
• has been drinking alcohol 
• is a smoker 

 
Parental discussions prior to discharge regarding the risks of smoking and co-sleeping should be recorded within the 
patient’s medical notes.  It would be useful to undertake regular audits to ensure the message is disseminated 
appropriately to all parents. 
 
 

2013/14 Update 
As part of the UNICEF audit the Pennine Acute regularly audit bed sharing information provided to Mothers in writing, the 
discussions held and risk assessments completed (Child Health Records). 
 
The Pennine Acute Hospital continues to provide the information guide ‘Putting your baby down to sleep safely’ which 
advises that parents: 
 
Never sleep with your baby if either you or your partner 

• has taken any legal or illegal drugs 
• has been drinking alcohol 
• is a smoker 

or if 
• your baby was born small or premature 

 
Do not put yourself, or allow others to be, in a position where there is a possibility of dozing off with the baby on a sofa or 
armchair, as this is one of the highest risk factors for sudden infant death. 
 
The Pennine Acute Hospital policy states that the leaflet should be provided to every new Mother and discussed on the 
labour ward.  Information is provided on the postnatal ward where notes are stamped, dated and signed to record the 
discussion held.  The message is also reinforced at discharge and at the first home visit from the community midwife.  An 
internal audit in Pennine Acute identified some gaps and that the service was not always fully compliant.  Further work is 
required to ensure that all Mothers receive the correct information regarding safe sleeping arrangements to improve 
consistency.  The Pennine Acute are in the process of updating action plans to achieve this. 
 
The November 2014 audit showed that 77% of Pennine Acute Mothers received this information and the risk assessment 
was completed on the postnatal ward in the early 12 hours post birth.  The community audit increased this figure to 88% of 
Mothers having this advice (links to early discharge).  The Pennine Acute appreciate that further work is required to ensure 
that all Mothers receive the correct information regarding safe sleeping arrangements to improve consistency and are in 
the process of updating action plans to achieve this. 
 
Information regarding safe sleeping and reducing the chances of infant death continues to be provided in the Personal 
Child Health Record (PCHR) also known as “the red book”.  The booklet contains information for parents highlighting safe 
sleeping arrangement do’s and don’ts stating that ‘The safest place for your baby to sleep is on their back in a cot or a crib in 
the room with you for the first six months’.   
 
The Safe Sleeping Assessment and Action Plan are completed by the midwife and contain questions regarding 
breastfeeding, safe sleeping, smoking and alcohol consumption.  Any identified risk factors are highlighted and actions 
produced with timescales to address any concerns. 

Page 48 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 80



3. Raising awareness of consanguinity and the associated health risks  
From the statistical information collated it’s clear that the largest number of consanguineous deaths occurred in children 
of Pakistani heritage.  These deaths are most prevalent in Oldham and Rochdale as both local authorities population have 
a larger percentage of the BME community in comparison to Bury.  Whilst Oldham continues to raise awareness with 
professionals there have been struggles on how to effectively communicate the message to the general public.  Public 
Health is to present the consanguinity report to the Health and Wellbeing Board to suggest ways forward on how to 
deliver the message within the community.  It would be useful for Rochdale to adopt a similar process to maintain a good 
level of consistency across the boroughs and that parents entering cousin relationships/marriage are aware of the 
potential health risks.  Oldham and Rochdale Public Health are required to lead the project and agree effective methods of 
communication to raise awareness within the community. 
 
As the first point of contact for families, it is important that GPs reiterate the associated health risks linked to 
consanguinity to enable parents to make informed decisions.  Where it is identified that families are at an increased risk of 
inherited genetic abnormities, these cases should be referred onto St Marys to provide genetic counselling. 
 
Whilst there is sufficient data to establish the links between child deaths and consanguinity there remains gaps in 
information regarding the disproportionate number of children with disabilities from the BME community.   Developing 
the Social Care system to record parent’s relationship would provide a better knowledge on the impact consanguinity has 
on the health service and the disabilities linked to inherited genital abnormities.   
 
 

2013/14 Update 
As detailed in Section 15: Consanguinity of the annual report, year on year the CDOP is becoming more robust at collating 
data in relation to consanguinity.   Section 15: Consanguinity of the report provides an overview of how consanguinity 
affects the population and raises questions regarding the cost implications this has for the NHS and Social Care. 
Calculating the cost implications and impact on the health service is difficult to estimate as every condition is varied and 
requires various sources of treatment and care depending on the child’s diagnosis, the severity of their condition and the 
life expectancy of the child.   
 
The Oldham Consanguinity Task Group reviewed local authority’s campaigns such as Birmingham and Bradford who have 
also identified consanguinity as a risk factor regarding the associated health risks.   Oldham reviewed the pros and cons of 
these campaigns to look at lessons learnt and establish what information is currently provided to the community and the 
best way forward.   
 
At present the GP/hospital may refer a family to Saint Mary’s Genetic Counselling Service where a genetics counsellor 
works one day a week in Oldham.  However they do not have the capacity to undertake any preventative work or general 
awareness raising within the community.  
 
Oldham LSCBs drafted the consanguinity report which was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board to look at the 
next steps forward to increase capacity and continue working with families who are most at risk and to raise awareness 
within the community by providing information in college settings regarding the associated health risks. 
 
Oldham LSCB wishes to implement the following proposal:  
 

1. Targeted work to raise awareness within the communities at risk with the aim that people understand 
that, if there is a family history which raises concerns, they should seek specialist advice.  The aim is 
to ensure that members of the public understand the associated health risks linked to 
consanguineous relationships to make informed decisions before considering marriage 

 
2. Raising awareness amongst front-line health professionals about the issue enabling them to 

contribute to the awareness raising, provide the appropriate information and initiate referrals where 
needed 

 
3. Increasing the capacity of the Saint Mary’s service to provide genetic counselling, and to undertake 

community outreach work. 
 
At present the report is to be presented to the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to discuss resources to fund and 
employ a specialist genetics post who can carry out the proposal.  
 

Page 49 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 81



 
 
 
 
 
Reviewing recommendations from previous years highlights the same emerging themes for 2013/2014 in relation to: 
 

• the disproportionate number of deaths within the BME community 
• co-ordinating a consistent safe sleeping message and  
• consanguinity and the associated health risks 

 
This year the Annual Report identified a link between consanguineous relationships and the disproportionate number of 
children with disabilities and child deaths within the BME community.   Many of the issues raised within the report will 
remain ongoing pieces of work which specific agencies such as Health and the CDOP will continue to monitor.   
 
The CDOP produced the 2013/14 Action Plan which provides an update of work ongoing from 2012/2013.  Many of these 
items will be carried forward to 2013/2014 and submitted to the 3 Local Safeguarding Children Boards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

21. 2013/2013 Action Plan 

Page 50 of 50 
 

Document Pack Page 82



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Refreshed Priority One of Health & Wellbeing Strategy- 
Starting Well

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Hutton

HWB Lead in this 
area

Mark Carriline

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information
X

Discussion Decision

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board following approval of the 
refreshed Priority 1 actions, measures 
of success and indicators as part of the 
final set of refreshed priorities of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 1- Starting Well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

This is being brought to the board for 
information only to highlight the 
revised title for Priority 1 and identify 
the lead officer for this priority as Mark 
Carriline 

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 83 Agenda Item 11



2

2. Introduction / Background

The Health & Wellbeing Board has committed to refreshing the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and agreed to review one priority per meeting. At the 
September 2014 Member Development Session and Board meeting, Priority 
One- Ensuring a positive start to life for children, young people and families was 
reviewed by the board.

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

At the Member Development Session, members received a series of 
presentations and updates from lead officers relating to Priority One actions and 
measures of success to inform robust discussion at the Board meeting. At the 
meeting, it was agreed that the actions and measures of success for Priority One 
should be:

Refreshed:  Priority 1 – Starting Well

Our Actions 

We will: 

1. Improve health and developmental outcomes for Under 5s.

2. Develop integrated services across education, health and social care which 
focus on the needs of the child especially those with the most complex 
needs. 

3. Support positive and resilient parenting, especially for families in 
challenging circumstances 

4. Narrow the attainment gap amongst the vulnerable groups.

Document Pack Page 84



3

Measures of Success 
If we are making a difference, we will have:

1 a) Improved health outcomes for under 5s
b) A higher proportion of children will be school ready 

2.  Implemented the SEND reforms

3. a) Fewer children making repeat entry into the social care 
    system
b) Children move from care into high quality permanence
c) Children in care in stable placements

4.  Improvements in the differences in levels of educational attainment 
across the borough and between groups 

Indicators

1. a) Improved health outcomes for under 5s

 Number of mothers who smoking  during pregnancy 
 Breastfeeding initiation and maintenance at  6-8 weeks after 

birth 
 Infant mortality 
 Tooth decay in children aged 5
 Childhood obesity

b) A higher proportion of children will be school ready 

 Children achieve a good level of development by the end of 
Reception

 Children with free school meal status achieve a good level of 
development at the end of reception

 Year 1 pupils will achieve the expected level in the phonics 
screening check

 Year 1 pupils with free school meal status will achieve the 
expected level in the phonics screening check

2. Implemented the SEND reforms

 Number of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHC) 
 Number of families accessing personal budgets

Document Pack Page 85



4

 3. a) Fewer children making repeat entry into the social care system
 A reduction in the number of repeat child protection plans

b) Children move from care into high quality permanence
 Number of children moving out of care into permanence through 

adoption or Special Guardianship Orders

c) Children in care in stable placements
 Long term placement stability for Children and Young People in 

Care

4. Improvements in the differences in levels of educational attainment across 
the borough and between groups

 Narrowing the gap indicators

ACTIONS MEASURES OF 
SUCCESS

INDICATORS Responsible Group

Number of mothers 
who smoking  during 
pregnancy 
Breastfeeding 
initiation and 
maintenance at  6-8 
weeks after birth

Infant mortality 

Tooth decay in 
children aged 5

Improved health 
outcomes for under 5s

Childhood obesity

Children achieve a 
good level of 
development by the 
end of Reception

Children with free 
school meal status 
achieve a good level 
of development at 
the end of reception

Improve health and 
developmental 
outcomes for Under 
5s.

A higher proportion of 
children will be school 
ready

Year 1 pupils will 
achieve the expected 
level in the phonics 
screening check

Children’s Trust Board

(Starting Well Sub 
Group)

Document Pack Page 86



5

Year 1 pupils with 
free school meal 
status will achieve 
the expected level in 
the phonics screening 
check.

Number of EHC plans 
in place

Develop integrated 
services across 
education, health 
and social care 
which focus on the 
needs of the child 
especially those with 
the most complex 
needs

Implementation of SEND 
reforms

Number of families 
accessing personal 
budgets

Children’s Trust Board

Learning Difficulties 
and Disabilities 
Strategy Group)

Fewer children making 
repeat entry to social 
care system

A reduction in the 
number of repeat child 
protection plans

Children move from care 
into high quality 
permanence

Number of children 
moving out of care 
into permanence 
through adoption or 
Special Guardianship 
Orders

Support positive and 
resilient parenting, 
especially for 
families in 
challenging 
circumstances 

Children in care in stable 
placements

Long term placement 
stability for CYPIC

Bury Safeguarding 
Children’s Board

Narrow the 
attainment gap 
amongst the 
vulnerable groups.

A) Improvements in the differences 
in levels of educational 
attainment across the 
borough and between 
groups 

Narrowing the gap 
indicators

Children’s Trust Board

(Children, Young 
People and Culture 
Management Team)

4. Recommendations for action

Recommendations for action are for the board to note the refreshed title, lead 
officer, actions, measures of success and indicators for Priority One of the Health 
& Wellbeing Strategy as part of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy refresh.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

Document Pack Page 87

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


6

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.Crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/05/2015

Document Pack Page 88



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Governance arrangements for the refreshed Priority 1of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy- Starting Well

Date 18th December 2014

Contact Officer Heather Hutton

HWB Lead in this 
area

Mark Carriline

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information
X

Discussion Decision

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board following sign off of the 
governance arrangements for the 
reporting of Priority 1 actions, 
measures of success and indicators for 
information.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 1- Starting Well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to note the refreshed 
governance arrangements for Priority 
1- starting well.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 89



2

2. Introduction / Background

At the Team Bury Forum, it was agreed that all groups and subgroups relating to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board should be reviewed in order to strengthen 
governance mechanisms (through agreed work plans and monitoring 
arrangements) to ensure that sub groups, projects and other work streams are 
targeted towards activities that will deliver success.

It was agreed at the October 2014 Board meeting that this should be undertaken 
in line with the refresh of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy so that as a priority is 
refreshed, the relevant groups and sub groups are then reviewed to ensure 
effective governance and accountability for delivering that priority (please see 
Appendix 1).

The refreshed priority 1 of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy was signed off by the 
Health & Wellbeing Board at the October 2014 meeting and therefore the Policy 
Lead and Democratic Services Officer for the Health & Wellbeing Board have 
been working on governance arrangements for this priority in partnership with 
relevant stakeholders (please see Appendix 2) .

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

It was agreed that the governance structure for delivering Priority 1 of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy is:

Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Children’s Trust Board
Bury Safeguarding 
Children’s Strategic 

Board

E 
Starting Well 
Partnership

Children’s Trust 
Operational Group

Bury Safeguarding 
Board Business Group

Document Pack Page 90



3

Document Pack Page 91



4

Children’s Trust Board

The Children’s Trust Board brings together partner organisations with a 
shared commitment to improve outcomes for children and young people by 
working together more effectively. The priorities agreed by the Children’s 
Trust Board are set out in the Children & Young People’s Plan. The legal 
framework underpinning Bury’s Children’s Trust arrangements is the ‘duty to 
cooperate’, set out in S10 of the Children’s Act 2004.

The Trust Board meets six times per year, usually on the first Thursday of 
the month, from 3pm – 5pm and the main purpose of the meeting is the 
development and delivery of the Children & Young People’s Plan.

 The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

CT Terms of Ref - 
Aug 2013.doc

The most recent minutes from the September 2014 board can be found 
below:

Minutes 
04-09-14.doc

Bury Safeguarding Children’s Strategic Board

Section 13 of the Children Act 2004 requires each Local Authority to establish 
a Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB) with an independent chair for 
their area and specifies the organisations and individuals (other than the 
local authority) that should be represented on LSCBs. 

The primary goal of Bury Safeguarding Children Board is to ensure that 
children in its area are protected from harm by providing effective and well 
co-ordinated services. The BSCB has a wider role, as reflected in Working 
Together 2013, to engage in wider work to ensure the long term safety and 
well-being of children. To that end it will have a role in the strategic and 
planning commissioning of services. These meetings take place quarterly.

There is a Joint Protocol between Bury Health & Wellbeing Board and Bury 
Safeguarding Children Board. The roles and responsibilities of the two 
respective boards are different but complementary. They have a common 
purpose – to promote joint working and co-operation between partners to 
improve the wellbeing of children in Bury, support and develop areas of mutual 

Document Pack Page 92



5

interest: examples include, the Child Death Overview Panel (CDOP), safe 
sleeping arrangements, referrals to A&E, challenges presented and experienced 
by children from vulnerable groups, teenage pregnancy and multi-agency 
practice in prevention and early help. The Joint protocol can be found below:

Joint protocol H&WB 
and CSCB.pdf

The Constitution including membership can be found below:

Consitutution 
BSCB.pdf

The minutes from the Bury Safeguarding Children’s Strategic Board that took 
place in June 2014 can be found below:

Mins BSCB June 
2014.pdf

4. Recommendations for action

The Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference state;

“The Board will oversee and receive reports from a set of sub groups which will 
focus on the delivery of key targeted areas of work. The sub groups will report 
directly to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Provisions that apply to the HWB 
would also apply to any sub groups of the HWB.” 

To note the agreed actions:

1. The following existing reporting mechanisms continue in line with the 
Health & Wellbeing Board forward plan:

 Children’s Trust Board- to bring the Children’s & Young Peoples Plan 
(produced every three years) to the Board on an annual basis.

Document Pack Page 93



6

 Bury Safeguarding Children’s Strategic Board- to bring the 
Annual Safeguarding Children’s Report and Child Death Overview 
Report on an annual basis to the H&WB Board.

2. In order to ensure effective governance and accountability for delivering 
priority one:

 The work programme of the CTB will be determined by the Children & 
Young People’s Plan.  The CTB must also have regard to any issue 
referred to it by the HWB.

 The CTB can make recommendations to the HWB arising from work 
undertaken on behalf of the Board.

 It is important that all HWB members are kept aware of the work of 
the CTB and BCSB, minutes will be circulated for information on a 
regular basis.  

 The CTB will oversee the delivery of the priority one of the HWB 
Strategy in doing so, the HWB will receive bi-annual reports in 
September 2015 and March 2016. 

 Exception reports as and when required.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.Crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Document Pack Page 94

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


7

Appendix 1- Team Bury Report

FINAL report team 
bury.doc

Appendix 2- Refreshed Priority 1 report

FINAL REFRESH 
report on refreshed priority 1 HWB Strategy June 2015.doc

Document Pack Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Refreshed Priority 2- Living Well

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Lesley Jones

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
refreshed Priority 2 actions, measures 
of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority Two- Living Well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the refreshed Priority 
2 actions, measures of success and 
indicators in order to support the 
future development of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health  
Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 97



2

2. Introduction / Background

The Health & Wellbeing Board has committed to refreshing the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and agreed to review one priority per meeting. 

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

Priority 2-Living Well has been refreshed and it is proposed that the actions and 
measures of success for Priority Two should be:

Our Actions 

We will: 
1. Ensure comprehensive advice and support is available to support people 

to maintain a healthy lifestyle
2. Establish a healthy schools and work and health programme
3. Adopt a ‘health in all policies’ approach to policy and strategy 

development

Measures of Success 
If we are making a difference:

1. People will adopt and maintain a healthy lifestyle and be physically active
2. All schools and workplaces in Bury will be ‘health promoting’ organisations
3. All policies and strategies will be developed to ensure they have a positive 

impact on the health of people in Bury

Indicators
For all actions and measures of success will be:

 More people reporting positive mental wellbeing
 Increase in proportion of people who maintain a healthy weight
 Increase in proportion of people who are physically active
 Reduction in proportion of people who smoke
 More people drinking alcohol within the recommended safe levels

ACTIONS MEASURES 
OF SUCCESS

INDICATORS Responsible 
Group

Ensure 
comprehensive 
advice and 
support is 
available to 
support people 
to maintain a 
healthy 

People will 
adopt and 
maintain a 
healthy 
lifestyle and 
be physically 
active 

 More people reporting 
positive mental 
wellbeing

 Increase in proportion of 
people who maintain a 
healthy weight

 Increase in proportion of 
people who are 

Health & Social 
Care 
Integration 
Partnership 
Board

Document Pack Page 98



3

lifestyle

All schools 
and 
workplaces 
in Bury will 
be ‘health 
promoting’ 
organisations

Establish a 
healthy 
schools and 
work and 
health 
programme

All 
workplaces 
in Bury will 
be ‘health 
promoting’ 
organisations

Health & Social 
Care 
Integration 
Partnership 
Board

Adopt a 
‘health in all 
policies’ 
approach to 
policy and 
strategy 
development

All policies 
and 
strategies 
will be 
developed to 
ensure they 
have a 
positive 
impact on 
the health of 
people in 
Bury

physically active
 Reduction in proportion 

of people who smoke
 More people drinking 

alcohol within the 
recommended safe 
levels

Health & Social 
Care 
Integration 
Partnership 
Board

4. Recommendations for action

Recommendations for action are for the board are to approve the refreshed 
actions, measures of success and indicators for Priority Two of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

Document Pack Page 99

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


4

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11th June 2015

Document Pack Page 100



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Governance arrangements for the refreshed Priority 2- 
Living Well

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Lesley Jones 

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
governance arrangements for the 
reporting of Priority 2 actions, 
measures of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 2- Living Well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the governance 
arrangements for the reporting of 
Priority 2 actions, measures of success 
and indicators. This is in order to 
support the future development of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and to 
strengthen the governance 
mechanisms (through agreed work 
plans and monitoring arrangements) to 
ensure that sub groups, projects and 
other work streams are targeted 
towards activities that will deliver 
success as agreed by Team Bury.

Document Pack Page 101



2

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

2. Introduction / Background

At the Team Bury Forum, it was agreed that all groups and subgroups relating to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board should be reviewed in order to strengthen 
governance mechanisms (through agreed work plans and monitoring 
arrangements) to ensure that sub groups, projects and other work streams are 
targeted towards activities that will deliver success.

It was agreed at the October 2014 Board meeting that this should be undertaken 
in line with the refresh of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy so that as a priority is 
refreshed, the relevant groups and sub groups are then reviewed to ensure 
effective governance and accountability for delivering that priority (please see 
Appendix 1).

The refresh of priority 2 has now been undertaken and therefore the Policy Lead 
and Democratic Services Officer for the Health & Wellbeing Board have been 
working on governance arrangements for this priority in partnership with 
relevant stakeholders (please see Appendix 2) .

Document Pack Page 102



3

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

It is proposed that the governance structure for delivering Priority 2 of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy is:

Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board

The Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board meets monthly 
and its aim is to provide system leadership and work together on the basis of a 
shared vision and ambition of progressing better care, health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the people of Bury.

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

20150105-Approved 
TOR (2) H&SCIB.doc

The most recent minutes from the April board can be found below:

20150804-Minutes 
H&SCIB April.doc

Document Pack Page 103



4

4. Recommendations for action

The Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference state;

“The Board will oversee and receive reports from a set of sub groups which will 
focus on the delivery of key targeted areas of work. The sub groups will report 
directly to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Provisions that apply to the HWB 
would also apply to any sub groups of the HWB.” 

In order to ensure effective governance and accountability for delivering priority 
one, it is proposed that:

 The work programme of the BIHSCP will be directed where appropriate 
by the Health & Wellbeing Strategy.

 The BIHSCP can make recommendations to the HWB arising from work 
undertaken on behalf of the Board.

 It is important that all HWB members are kept aware of the work of 
the BIHSCP, minutes will be circulated for information on a regular 
basis.  

 The BIHSCP will oversee the delivery of the priority two of the HWB 
Strategy in doing so, the HWB will receive bi-annual reports in 
September 2015 and March 2015.

 Exception reports as and when required.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

Document Pack Page 104

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


5

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Appendix 1- Team Bury Report

FINAL report team 
bury.doc

Appendix 2- DRAFT Refreshed Priority 2 Report

FINAL Report 
Priority 2 living well.doc

Document Pack Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Refreshed Priority Three of Health & Wellbeing Strategy- 
Living well with a long term condition or as a carer

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Hutton

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information
X

Discussion Decision

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is for information following 
sign off of the refreshed Priority 3 
actions, measures of success and 
indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority Four- Living Well with a long 
term condition or as a carer

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

This report is for information following 
sign off of the refreshed Priority 3 
actions, measures of success and 
indicators.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 107



2

2. Introduction / Background

The Health & Wellbeing Board has committed to refreshing the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and agreed to review one priority per meeting. At the 
October 2014 Member Development Session and Board meeting, Priority three- 
Living Well with a long term condition or as a carer was reviewed.

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

At the Member Development Session, members received a series of 
presentations and updates from lead officers relating to Priority three actions 
and measures of success to inform robust discussion at the Board meeting. At 
the meeting, it was agreed that the actions and measures of success for Priority 
Three should be:

Priority 3 -  Living Well with a long term condition or as a carer

Our Actions 

We will: 

1. Ensure people with long term conditions (including mental health) are 
supported to live as well as possible with their condition.

2. Ensure carers have access to the support and information they need to 
fulfil their caring role and maintain their own health.

3. Support people with long term conditions (including mental health) to 
achieve and maintain sustainable employment.

Measures of Success 
If we are making a difference, we will have:

1. a) An improved quality of life for people living with long term conditions

b) A reduction in hospital admissions for people with long term conditions

2. Improved health and wellbeing of carers 

3. Increased number of people with long term conditions in sustainable 
employment.

Document Pack Page 108



3

Indicators

1. a) An improved quality of life for people living with long term conditions

 Health related quality of life for people with long term conditions
 Percentage of adults with a learning disability living in stable and 

appropriate accommodation
 Percentage of adults in contact with secondary mental health 

services who live in stable and appropriate accommodation

b) A reduction in hospital admissions for people with long term conditions

 Unplanned hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive 
conditions

2.  Improved health and wellbeing of carers 
 Percentage of adult carers who have as much social contact as 

they would like
 Health related quality of life for carers

3. Increased number of people with long term conditions in sustainable 
employment.

 Gap in the employment rate between those with a long term 
health condition and the overall employment rate

 Gap in the employment rate between those with a learning 
disability and the overall employment rate

 Gap in the employment rate between those in contact with 
secondary mental health services and the overall employment 
rate

Document Pack Page 109



4

ACTIONS MEASURES 
OF 
SUCCESS

INDICATORS Responsible 
Group

Health related quality of life for 
people with long term conditions

Percentage of adults with a 
learning disability living in stable 
and appropriate accommodation

An improved 
quality of life 
for people 
living with 
long term 
conditions

Percentage of adults in contact 
with secondary mental health 
services who live in stable and 
appropriate accommodation

Ensure 
people with 
long term 
conditions 
(including 
mental 
health) are 
supported to 
live as well 
as possible 
with their 
condition.

A reduction 
in hospital 
admissions 
for people 
with long 
term 
conditions

Unplanned hospitalisation for 
chronic ambulatory care 
sensitive conditions

Bury 
Integrated 
Health & 
Social Care 
Partnership 
Board

Percentage of adult carers who 
have as much social contact as 
they would like

Ensure 
carers have 
access to the 
support and 
information 
they need to 
fulfil their 
caring role 
and maintain 
their own 
health.

Improved 
health and 
wellbeing of 
carers

Health related quality of life for 
carers

Bury 
Integrated 
Health & 
Social Care 
Partnership 
Board 

Employment of people with long 
term conditions

Support 
people with 
long term 
conditions 
(including 
mental 
health) to 
achieve and 
maintain 
sustainable 
employment.

Increased 
number of 
people with 
long term 
conditions in 
sustainable 
employment.

Gap in the employment rate 
between those with a long term 
health condition and the overall 
employment rate

Economic 
Partnership 
Board

Bury 
Employment 
and skills task 
group (BEAST)

Document Pack Page 110



5

Gap in the employment rate 
between those with a learning 
disability and the overall 
employment rate

Gap in the employment rate 
between those in contact with 
secondary mental health services 
and the overall employment rate

4. Recommendations for action

Recommendations for action are for the board to note the refreshed actions, 
measures of success and indicators for Priority Three of the Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.Crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Document Pack Page 111

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Governance arrangements for the refreshed Priority 3 of 
the Health & Wellbeing Strategy- Living Well with a long 
term condition or as a carer

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
governance arrangements for the 
reporting of Priority 3 actions, 
measures of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 3- Living Well with a long term 
condition or as a carer

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the governance 
arrangements for the reporting of 
Priority 3 actions, measures of success 
and indicators. This is in order to 
support the future development of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and to 
strengthen the governance 
mechanisms (through agreed work 
plans and monitoring arrangements) to 
ensure that sub groups, projects and 
other work streams are targeted 
towards activities that will deliver 
success as agreed by Team Bury.

Document Pack Page 113



2

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

2. Introduction / Background

At the Team Bury Forum, it was agreed that all groups and subgroups relating to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board should be reviewed in order to strengthen 
governance mechanisms (through agreed work plans and monitoring 
arrangements) to ensure that sub groups, projects and other work streams are 
targeted towards activities that will deliver success.

It was agreed at the October 2014 Board meeting that this should be undertaken 
in line with the refresh of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy so that as a priority is 
refreshed, the relevant groups and sub groups are then reviewed to ensure 
effective governance and accountability for delivering that priority (please see 
Appendix 1).

The refreshed priority 3 of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy was signed off by the 
Health & Wellbeing Board at the December 2014 meeting and therefore the 
Policy Lead and Democratic Services Officer for the Health & Wellbeing Board 
have been working on governance arrangements for this priority in partnership 
with relevant stakeholders (please see Appendix 2) .

Document Pack Page 114



3

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

It is proposed that the governance structure for delivering Priority 3 of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy is:

Bury Wider Bury Council Leadership Group

Bury Wider Bury Council Leadership Group

Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Bury Integrated Health & Social Care 
Partnership Board

(responsible for ensuring delivery of Actions 
1 and 2 of Priority 3 of Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy- Supporting people to live well with 
a long term condition or as a carer)

Bury Employment & Skills Task 
Group (BEAST)

(responsible for ensuring delivery of Action 
3 of Priority 3 of Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy- Supporting people to live well with 
a long term condition or as a carer)

Bury Council 
Governance 
Structure

Team Bury 
Forum

Economic Partnership 
Board

Document Pack Page 115



4

Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board

The Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board meets monthly 
and its aim is to provide system leadership and work together on the basis of a 
shared vision and ambition of progressing better care, health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the people of Bury.

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

20150105-Approved 
TOR (2) H&SCIB.doc

The most recent minutes from the April board can be found below:

20150804-Minutes 
H&SCIB April.doc

Document Pack Page 116



5

Bury Employment & Skills Task Group (BEAST)

The Bury Employment Skills Task Group meets every two months.  The group is 
responsible for overseeing locally based partnership work to tackle worklessness 
and increase skill levels.  In addition it is responsible to ensuring that Bury 
contributes to the wider Greater Manchester Employment and Skill Reform. 
 Bury Employment and Skills Task Group reports to the Economic Partnership 
but contributes to ambitions of the Health and Well Being Board.  

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

Emplt  skills group 
TOR 2015-TFV3.docx

The Group membership and action plan is being refreshed in parallel with the 
launch of the Bury Economic Partnership. Therefore the next available mins will 
be in September 2015.

4. Recommendations for action

The Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference state;

“The Board will oversee and receive reports from a set of sub groups which will 
focus on the delivery of key targeted areas of work. The sub groups will report 

Document Pack Page 117



6

directly to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Provisions that apply to the HWB 
would also apply to any sub groups of the HWB.” 

In order to ensure effective governance and accountability for delivering priority 
three, it is proposed that:

 The work programme of the BIHSCP & BEAST will be directed where 
appropriate by Health & Wellbeing Strategy

 The BIHSCP & BEAST can make recommendations to the HWB arising 
from work undertaken on behalf of the Board.

 It is important that all HWB members are kept aware of the work of 
the BIHSCP & BEAST, minutes will be circulated for information on a 
regular basis.  

 The BIHSCP & BEAST will oversee the delivery of the priority three of 
the HWB Strategy in doing so, the HWB will receive bi-annual reports 
in September 2015 and March 2016.

 Exception reports as and when required.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Document Pack Page 118

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


7

Appendix 1- Team Bury Report

FINAL report team 
bury.doc

Appendix 2- Refreshed Priority 3 report 

FINAL report Priority 
3 H&WB Strategy updated now priority 3.doc

Document Pack Page 119



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Refreshed Priority 4 of Health & Wellbeing Strategy- Ageing 
Well

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
refreshed Priority 4  actions, measures 
of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority Four- Ageing Well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the refreshed Priority 
4 actions, measures of success and 
indicators in order to support the 
future development of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health  
Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 121



2

2. Introduction / Background

The Health & Wellbeing Board has committed to refreshing the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and agreed to review one priority per meeting. 

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

Priority 4- Ageing Well has been refreshed and it is proposed that the actions 
and measures of success for Priority Four should be:

Our Actions 

We will: 
1. Ensure older people play an active role within their community, tackling 

the impact of social isolation
2. Reduce the likelihood of people experiencing a crisis and when they do 

reduce the impact of this
3. Ensure people at the end of life are treated with dignity and respect

Measures of Success 
If we are making a difference, we will have:

1.  a) No older people will feel socially isolated

2. a) A reduction in non elective admissions in older people
b) A reduction in permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes
c) An increase in the number of over 65’s who remain at home  

following re-ablement services

3. a) People will have choice and control over where they die
b) People will die with an end of life plan

Indicators

1. a) No older people will feel socially isolated 
 People aged 65 plus who have as much social contact as they would 

like 

2. a) A reduction in non elective admissions in older people
 Non elective admissions for people aged 65 plus 

b) A reduction in permanent admissions to residential and nursing homes
 Permanent admissions to care homes people aged 65 and over  

Document Pack Page 122



3

c) An increase in the number of over 65’s who remain at home following 
   re-ablement services

 Older people at home 91 days after leaving hospital into reablement 

3. a) People will have choice and control over where they die
b) People will die with an end of life plan

 Proportion of deaths in usual place of residence (from End of Life 
Care Intelligence Network)

Document Pack Page 123

http://www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view?rid=203


4

ACTIONS MEASURES 
OF SUCCESS

INDICATORS Responsible 
Group

Ensure older 
people play 
an active 
role within 
their 
community, 
tackling the 
impact of 
social 
isolation

No older 
people will 
feel socially 
isolated

People aged 65 plus who have as 
much social contact as they 
would like 
(Adult User Experience Survey)

Bury 
Integrated 
Health & Social 
Care 
Partnership 
Board

A reduction 
in non 
elective 
admissions 
in older 
people to 
A&E

Non elective admissions for 
people aged 65 plus (AQA) 

A reduction 
in 
permanent 
admissions 
to residential 
and nursing 
homes

Permanent admissions to care 
homes people aged 65 and over  
(ASCOF indicator 2A,(2))

Reduce the 
likelihood of 
people 
experiencing 
a crisis and 
when they 
do reduce 
the impact 
of this

An increase 
in the 
number of 
over 65’s 
who remain 
at home  
following re-
ablement 
services

Older people at home 91 days 
after leaving hospital into 
reablement (ASCOF Indicator 
2B(1))

Bury 
Integrated 
Health & Social 
Care 
Partnership 
Board

Ensure 
people at 
the end of 
life are 
treated with 
dignity and 
respect

People will 
have choice 
and control 
over where 
they die

Proportion of deaths in usual 
place of residence (from End of 
Life Care Intelligence Network)

Bury 
Integrated 
Health & Social 
Care 
Partnership 
Board

Document Pack Page 124

http://www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view?rid=203
http://www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view?rid=203


5

People will 
die with an 
end of life 
plan

4. Recommendations for action

Recommendations for action are for the board are to approve the refreshed 
actions, measures of success and indicators for Priority Four of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Document Pack Page 125

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Governance arrangements for the refreshed Priority 4  of 
the Health & Wellbeing Strategy- Ageing well

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
governance arrangements for the 
reporting of Priority 4 actions, 
measures of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 4- Ageing well

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the governance 
arrangements for the reporting of 
Priority 4 actions, measures of success 
and indicators. This is in order to 
support the future development of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and to 
strengthen the governance 
mechanisms (through agreed work 
plans and monitoring arrangements) to 
ensure that sub groups, projects and 
other work streams are targeted 
towards activities that will deliver 
success as agreed by Team Bury.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Document Pack Page 127



2

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

2. Introduction / Background

At the Team Bury Forum, it was agreed that all groups and subgroups relating to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board should be reviewed in order to strengthen 
governance mechanisms (through agreed work plans and monitoring 
arrangements) to ensure that sub groups, projects and other work streams are 
targeted towards activities that will deliver success.

It was agreed at the October 2014 Board meeting that this should be undertaken 
in line with the refresh of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy so that as a priority is 
refreshed, the relevant groups and sub groups are then reviewed to ensure 
effective governance and accountability for delivering that priority (please see 
Appendix 1).

The refresh of priority 4 has now been undertaken and therefore the Policy Lead 
and Democratic Services Officer for the Health & Wellbeing Board have been 
working on governance arrangements for this priority in partnership with 
relevant stakeholders (please see Appendix 2) .

Document Pack Page 128



3

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

It is proposed that the governance structure for delivering Priority 4 of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy is:

Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Bury Integrated Health & 
Social Care Partnership 

Board

Safeguarding Adults 
Board

Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board

Document Pack Page 129



4

The Bury Integrated Health & Social Care Partnership Board meets monthly 
and its aim is to provide system leadership and work together on the basis of a 
shared vision and ambition of progressing better care, health and wellbeing 
outcomes for the people of Bury.

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

Microsoft Office 
Word 97 - 2003 Document

The most recent minutes from the April 2015 board can be found below:

20150804-Minutes 
H&SCIB April.doc

Safeguarding Adults Board

The Safeguarding Adults Board meets quarterly and its aim is to provide 
strategic leadership to develop adult safeguarding in Bury.

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

ToR Strategic 
Board.doc

4. Recommendations for action

The Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference state;

“The Board will oversee and receive reports from a set of sub groups which will 
focus on the delivery of key targeted areas of work. The sub groups will report 
directly to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Provisions that apply to the HWB 
would also apply to any sub groups of the HWB.” 

1. The following existing reporting mechanisms continue in line with the 
Health & Wellbeing Board forward plan:

 Bury Safeguarding Adults Strategic Board- to bring the Annual 
Adults Safeguarding Report on an annual basis to the H&WB Board.

Document Pack Page 130



5

2. In order to ensure effective governance and accountability for delivering 
priority one, it is proposed that:

 The work programme of the BIHSCP and SAB will be directed where 
appropriate by the Health & Wellbeing Strategy

 The BIHSCP & SAB can make recommendations to the HWB arising 
from work undertaken on behalf of the Board.

 It is important that all HWB members are kept aware of the work of 
the BIHSCP and SAB, minutes will be circulated for information on a 
regular basis.  

 The BIHSCP and SAB will oversee the delivery of the priority four of 
the HWB Strategy in doing so, the HWB will receive bi-annual reports 
in September 2015 and March 2016

 Exception reports as and when required.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11th June 2015

Document Pack Page 131

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


6

Appendix 1- Team Bury Report

FINAL report team 
bury.doc

Appendix 2- Refreshed Priority 4 report

FINAL Report 
Priority 4.doc

Document Pack Page 132



1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Refreshed Priority 5 of Health & Wellbeing Strategy- 
Healthy Places

Date June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
refreshed Priority 5 actions, measures 
of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority Five- Healthy Places

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the refreshed Priority 
5 actions, measures of success and 
indicators in order to support the 
future development of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy.

What requirement is there for internal 
or external communication around this 

area?

N/A

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health  
Wellbeing Board

Document Pack Page 133



2

2. Introduction / Background

The Health & Wellbeing Board has committed to refreshing the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy and agreed to review one priority per meeting. At the 
December Member Development Session and Board meeting, the original Priority 
3- Helping to build strong communities, wellbeing and mental health was 
focussed upon. It was acknowledged that this priority covers a wide variety of 
areas and that most themes are now covered within the other two Team Bury 
Priorities, ‘Stronger, Safer Communities’ and ‘Stronger Economy’ or contained 
within one of the other priorities of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy now it has 
been refreshed. 

It was therefore agreed that the existing Priority 3 would be removed and a new 
priority focussing on Healthy Places would be introduced as Priority 5.

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

At the Member Development Session, members received a detailed presentation 
regarding the possible scope of the new Priority 5- Healthy Places and agreed 
that the actions and measures of success for Priority Five should be:

Our Actions 

We will: 
1. Create a clean and sustainable environment
2. Ensure suitable and quality homes

Measures of Success 
If we are making a difference, we will have:

1.  a) Improved air quality
 b) Reduced carbon emissions
 c) Green spaces that are welcoming, safe and well maintained
 d) High levels of recycling 

2.  a) Access to affordable and appropriate tenure housing
b) Access to quality homes that meet people needs and secure their 

health and wellbeing
c) Reduced homelessness

Indicators

1. a) Improved air quality
 Fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution
 Adapting to Climate Change  (Local PI on PIMS)

Document Pack Page 134



3

 Annual Greenhouse Gas Report  (% change in Bury Council’s 
Carbon emissions)

b) Reduced carbon emissions
 Suite of Planning indicators  proposed in Bury’s core strategy (zero 

carbon, mitigating measures in new developments which have a 
negative effect on air quality)

c) Green spaces that are welcoming, safe and well maintained
 ‘Green flag’ standard parks in the borough
 Street cleanliness levels

d) High levels of recycling 
 Percentage of households recycling

2. Ensure people have suitable and quality homes
 Statutory homelessness - homelessness acceptances
 Statutory homelessness - households in temporary accommodation
 Percentage of households in fuel Poverty

ACTIONS MEASURES OF 
SUCCESS

INDICATORS Responsible 
Group

Improved air quality Fraction of mortality 
attributable to particulate 
air pollution

Reduced carbon 
emissions

Percentage change in 
Carbon emissions

Carbon 
Reduction 
Board

‘Green flag’ standard 
parks in the borough

Green spaces that are 
welcoming, safe and 
well maintained

Street cleanliness levels

Create a 
clean and 
sustainable 
environment

High levels of 
recycling

Percentage of households 
recycling

Carbon 
Reduction 
Board

Document Pack Page 135



4

Access to affordable 
and appropriate 
tenure housing

Access to quality 
homes that meet 
people needs and 
secure their health 
and wellbeing

Ensure 
suitable and 
quality 
homes

Reduced 
homelessness

 Percentage of 
households in fuel 
Poverty

 Statutory 
homelessness - 
homelessness 
acceptances

 Statutory 
homelessness - 
households in 
temporary 
accommodation

Housing 
Strategy 
Programme 
Board (HSPB)

4. Recommendations for action

Recommendations for action are for the board are to approve the refreshed 
actions, measures of success and indicators for Priority Five of the Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy. 

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 11/06/2015

Document Pack Page 136

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


1

Health & Wellbeing Board Report template

Bury Health and Wellbeing Board

Title of the Report Governance arrangements for the refreshed Priority 5 
Healthy Places

Date 11th June 2015

Contact Officer Heather Crozier

HWB Lead in this 
area

Pat Jones Greenhalgh

1. Executive Summary

Is this report for? Information Discussion Decision
X

Why is this report being brought to the 
Board?

This report is being brought to the 
board to seek approval to sign off the 
governance arrangements for the 
reporting of Priority 5 actions, 
measures of success and indicators.

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

priorities the report relates to. (See 
attached Strategy)

Priority 5- Healthy Places

Please detail which, if any, of the Joint 
Strategic Needs Assessment priorities 
the report relates to. (See attached 

JSNA)

N/A

Key Actions for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board to address – what 

action is needed from the Board and its 
members? Please state 

recommendations for action.

Board to approve the governance 
arrangements for the reporting of 
Priority 5 actions, measures of success 
and indicators. This is in order to 
support the future development of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy and to 
strengthen the governance 
mechanisms (through agreed work 
plans and monitoring arrangements) to 
ensure that sub groups, projects and 
other work streams are targeted 
towards activities that will deliver 
success as agreed by Team Bury.

What requirement is there for internal N/A

Document Pack Page 137



2

or external communication around this 
area?

Assurance and tracking process – Has 
the report been considered at any 
other committee meeting of the 

Council/meeting of the CCG 
Board/other stakeholders....please 

provide details.

No this report is specific to the Health 
& Wellbeing Board

2. Introduction / Background

At the Team Bury Forum, it was agreed that all groups and subgroups relating to 
the Health & Wellbeing Board should be reviewed in order to strengthen 
governance mechanisms (through agreed work plans and monitoring 
arrangements) to ensure that sub groups, projects and other work streams are 
targeted towards activities that will deliver success.

It was agreed at the October 2014 Board meeting that this should be undertaken 
in line with the refresh of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy so that as a priority is 
refreshed, the relevant groups and sub groups are then reviewed to ensure 
effective governance and accountability for delivering that priority (please see 
Appendix 1).

The refreshed priority 5 of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy has now been 
developed and the Policy Lead and Democratic Services Officer for the Health & 
Wellbeing Board have been working on governance arrangements for this 
priority in partnership with relevant stakeholders (please see Appendix 2) .

Document Pack Page 138



3

3. Key issues for the Board to Consider

It is proposed that the governance structure for delivering Priority 5 of the 
Health & Wellbeing Strategy is:

Bury Wider Bury Council Leadership Group

Carbon Reduction Board

The Carbon Reduction/Climate Change Board meets every six weeks and is 
chaired by Pat Jones-Greenhalgh. The board is a cross-divisional Board of the 
Council also has the broader lens for Greater Manchester on all climate change 
matters. Its aim is to lead Low Carbon for Bury and provide steer and assurance 
that Bury Council is satisfying its responsibilities and target with regards 
adapting to Climate Change and Energy efficiency and Carbon management.

 

Bury Wider Bury Council Leadership Group

Health & Wellbeing Board

  Sets and oversees the Health & Wellbeing Strategy and 
responsible for Team Bury Health & Wellbeing Strategy

Carbon Reduction Board

responsible for ensuring delivery of Action 1 of 
Priority 5 of Health & Wellbeing Strategy

Healthy Places

Housing Strategy Programme Board (HSPB)

 responsible for ensuring delivery of Action 2 of 
Priority 5 of Health & Wellbeing Strategy

Healthy Places

Bury Council 
Governance 

Structure
Team Bury Forum

Document Pack Page 139



4

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

Terms of Reference 
(latest version).doc

The most recent minutes from the April board can be found below:

04.22.15 Notes of 
Meeting.docx

Housing Strategy Programme Board

The Housing Strategy Programme Board meets monthly and is the sole 
mechanism to provide direction to all strategic housing matters in the 
borough. Its purpose is to act as a single point where all new strategic 
housing-related policies, procedures, publicity, activities and initiatives being 
developed by Adult Care Services and Six Town Housing are presented, 
discussed and agreed prior to wider discussion with members, the Board or 
the community. Its aim is to support the key principles of the partnership 
between the Adult Care Services and Six Town Housing, in that there will be 
no surprises arising from any strategic housing-related activities carried out 
by either party; that all will collectively promote positive attitudes and give 
positive messages at all times; there will be a joint celebration of individual 
and shared successes; and that information will be shared to allow each 
organisation to make better decisions.

The Terms of Reference including membership can be found below:

ToR Final 
050112.doc

The most recent minutes from the February board can be found below:

HSPB Minutes 25 
February 2015.doc

Document Pack Page 140



5

4. Recommendations for action

The Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference state;

“The Board will oversee and receive reports from a set of sub groups which will 
focus on the delivery of key targeted areas of work. The sub groups will report 
directly to the Health and Wellbeing Board.  Provisions that apply to the HWB 
would also apply to any sub groups of the HWB.” 

In order to ensure effective governance and accountability for delivering priority 
Five, it is proposed that:

 The work programme of HSPB  and CRB will be directed where 
appropriate by the Health & Wellbeing Board

 The HSPB and CRB can make recommendations to the HWB arising 
from work undertaken on behalf of the Board.

 It is important that all HWB members are kept aware of the work of 
the HSPB and CRB, minutes will be circulated for information on a 
regular basis.  

 The HSPB and CRB will oversee the delivery of the priority five of the 
HWB Strategy in doing so, the HWB will receive bi-annual reports in 
September 2015 and March 2016.

 Exception reports as and when required.

5. Financial and legal implications (if any)
If necessary please see advice from the Council Monitoring Officer 
Jayne Hammond (J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk) or Section 151 
Officer Steve Kenyon (S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk ).

There are no financial or legal implications.

6. Equality/Diversity Implications

There are no equality or diversity implications.

Document Pack Page 141

mailto:J.M.Hammond@bury.gov.uk
mailto:S.Kenyon@bury.gov.uk


6

CONTACT DETAILS: 

Contact Officer:     Heather Crozier

Telephone number: 0161 253 6684

 E-mail address:       h.crozier@bury.gov.uk

 Date: 

Appendix 1- Team Bury Report

FINAL report team 
bury.doc

Appendix 2- Refreshed Priority 5 report

DRAFT Report 
Priority 5 Health Places.doc

Document Pack Page 142


	Agenda
	3 MATTERS ARISING
	4 MINUTES FROM PREVIOUS MEETING
	6 HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD MEMBERSHIP UPDATE
	8 MAY BETTER CARE FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORT AND FUTURE SIGN OFF PROCESS
	Copy of BCF Quarterly Data Collection Template Q4 14-15 Final xls xls

	9 CHILD DEATH OVERVIEW PANEL
	FINAL 2013 - 2014 CDOP Annual Report (V4)

	11 HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY REFRESH
	FINAL report on refreshed priority 1 Governance HWB Strategy
	FINAL Report Priority 2 living well
	Priority 2 living well FINAL governance strategy
	FINAL report Priority 3 H&WB Strategy updated now priority 3
	FINAL Priority 3 governance arrangements report
	FINAL Report Priority 4
	Priority 4 FINAL governance arrangements report
	DRAFT Report Priority 5 Health Places
	Priority 5 health places DRAFT governance arrangements report


